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PART I

Item 1. Business

Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements as defined by the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, all of which are subject to risks and uncertainties. Forward-
looking statements reflect management’s current expectations and are inherently uncertain. The Com-
pany’s actual results may differ significantly from management’s expectations. One can identify these

forward-looking statements by the use of words such as “‘expects,” ‘‘seeing,” ‘“‘anticipates,” ‘“‘plans,”
“‘agendas,” “‘will,” “‘estimates,”” ‘‘believes,”” ““may,” ‘‘indicates,” ““forecasts,” ‘‘focusing,” ‘“‘guidance,”
“outlook,” ‘“‘projects,” ‘‘initiatives,” “‘strives,”” ‘“‘seeks,” ‘‘goals,” ‘‘objectives,” ‘‘assumes,” ‘‘looks,”
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“should,” “supports,” “‘comfortable with,”” ““‘confident,”” and other words of similar meaning. One also
can identify them by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts. These
statements are likely to address the Company’s growth strategy, future financial performance (including
sales and earnings projections), shareholder value, share repurchases, strategic alternatives, potential
alliances or the anticipated benefits therefrom, marketing and expansion plans, its plans related to store
openings, closings and remodels, the addition of the Seattle’s Best Coffee and Paperchase brands to
Borders stores, and the impact of growth initiatives. One must carefully consider any such statement and
should understand that many factors could cause actual results to differ materially from the Company’s
forward-looking statements. These factors include inaccurate assumptions and a broad variety of risks
and uncertainties, including some that are known and some that are not. Although it is not possible to
predict or identify all such factors, they may include the risks discussed in “Item 1A. — Risk Factors.”
The Company does not undertake any obligation to update forward-looking statements.

General

Borders Group, Inc., through its subsidiaries, Borders, Inc. (‘“‘Borders’’), Walden Book Company, Inc.
(““Waldenbooks”’), Borders (UK) Limited, Borders Australia Pty Limited and others (individually and
collectively, “‘the Company”’), is the second largest operator of book, music and movie superstores and
the largest operator of mall-based bookstores in the world based upon both sales and number of stores.
At January 28, 2006, the Company operated 528 superstores under the Borders name, including 473 in
the United States, 35 in the United Kingdom, 14 in Australia, three in Puerto Rico, two in New Zealand
and one in Singapore. The Company also operated 678 mall-based and other bookstores primarily under
the Waldenbooks name in the United States and 33 bookstores under the Books etc. name in the United
Kingdom. In addition, the Company owned and operated United Kingdom-based Paperchase Products
Limited (‘‘Paperchase’’), a designer and retailer of stationery, cards and gifts. As of January 28, 2006,
Paperchase operated 90 stores, primarily in the United Kingdom, and Paperchase shops have been
added to nearly 100 domestic Borders superstores.

Segment Information

The Company is organized based upon the following operating segments: domestic Borders superstores,
Waldenbooks Specialty Retail stores, International stores (including Borders, Books etc. and Paperchase
stores), and Corporate (consisting of interest expense related to corporate activities, certain corporate
governance costs and corporate incentive costs). See ‘‘Note 17 — Segment Information” in the notes to
consolidated financial statements for further information relating to these segments.

Domestic Borders Superstores

Borders is a premier operator of book, music and movie superstores in the United States, offering
customers selection and service that the Company believes to be superior to other such superstore
operators. A key element of the Company’s strategy is to continue its growth and increase its profitability
through the ongoing expansion and refinement of its Borders superstore operations. In 2005, the
Company opened 15 new Borders superstores, achieved average sales per square foot of $232 and
average sales per superstore of $5.8 million. Borders superstores also achieved compound annual net

2



sales growth of 5.3%, 5.0% and 5.4% for the three years ended January 28, 2006, January 23, 2005 and
January 25, 2004, respectively.

Borders superstores offer customers a vast assortment of books, music and movies, superior customer
service, value pricing and an inviting and comfortable environment designed to encourage browsing.
Borders superstores carry an average of 93,500 book titles, with individual store selections ranging from
50,000 titles to 150,000 titles, across numerous categories, including many hard-to-find titles. As of
January 28, 2006, 461 of the 473 domestic Borders superstores were in a book, music and movie format,
which also features an extensive selection of pre-recorded music, with a broad assortment in categories
such as jazz, classical and world music, and a broad assortment of DVDs, focusing on new release and
catalog movies. A typical Borders superstore carries approximately 14,000 titles of music and over 10,000
titles of movies.

Borders superstores average 25,000 square feet in size, including approximately 12,900 square feet
devoted to books, 3,500 square feet devoted to music, 800 square feet devoted to newsstand and 700
square feet devoted to movies. Through its remodeling efforts, Borders is realigning space devoted to
specific categories which, in general, results in an increase in space for categories such as books, movies
and gifts and stationery and a reduction in music space. The Company remodeled 100 Borders super-
stores during 2005, and expects to remodel up to 100 additional Borders superstores in 2006. Stores
opened in 2005 averaged 21,400 square feet. Each store is distinctive in appearance and architecture and
is designed to complement its local surroundings, although Borders utilizes certain standardized specifi-
cations to increase the speed and lower the cost of new store openings.

The typical Borders superstore also dedicates approximately 400 square feet to gifts and stationery. In
2005, the Company began to install Paperchase shops in all new and most remodeled domestic super-
stores as part of a long-term plan to enhance the variety and distinctiveness of the Company’s gifts and
stationery offering. Paperchase shops utilize approximately 750 square feet. The Company will continue
to convert gifts and stationery departments to Paperchase shops through its store remodeling efforts.

In addition, the Company devotes approximately 1,400 square feet to a cafe within virtually all Borders
superstores. In August 2004, the Company entered into a licensing agreement with Seattle’s Best Coffee,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Starbucks Corporation, through which the Company will operate Seattle’s
Best Coffee-branded cafes within substantially all of the Company’s existing Borders superstores in the
continental U.S. and Alaska and new stores as they are opened. Cafes located within existing Borders
superstores began conversion to Seattle’s Best Coffee cafes in early 2005, and will continue through
2007. There is no change expected in the size of the cafes as a result of the conversion to Seattle’s Best
Coffee.

The number of Borders domestic superstores located in each state and the District of Columbia as of
January 28, 2006 are listed below:

Number of Number of
State Stores State Stores
Alaska .......... ... ... ... ... ... 1 Idaho ........ .. ... ... .. ... .... 2
Arizona ........ .. 11 Minois . ..ovvve e 35
California......................... 76 Indiana........................... 11
Colorado ......................... 13 Towa...ovoiii 4
Connecticut . « . v oo vv v 8 Kansas ........ . ... i L 7
Delaware ............. .o ... 2 Kentucky ... 5
District of Columbia................ 3 Louisiana . ........................ 1
Florida ........................... 25 Maine ... 2
Georgia . ....oiiiii 15 Maryland . ............ oo oL 12
Hawaii . ...................o ... 7 Massachusetts. . .................... 11



Number of Number of
State Stores State Stores
Michigan ........ ... ... o 17 Oregon ............ooiiiiii... 7
Minnesota . .....oiiii 8 Pennsylvania ...................... 21
MISSISSIPPL « « v vov e 1 Rhode Island ...................... 2
MiSSOUIT . vt ve e e en s 9 South Dakota .....................
Montana ..........ooiiiiiinenan.. 3 Tennessee .. ......ooiiiiii. 6
Nebraska ......................... 2 Texas ..o 21
Nevada.............oooiiii... 6 Utah. . ..o 4
New Hampshire ................... 4 Vermont. .. ..vvvneein e,
New Jersey . ..., 16 Virginia . ....... ... oo 14
New MeXico . ..vvvvniinenennann.. 5 Washington ....................... 11
New York. .. ... ... 26 West Virginia......................
North Carolina .................... 8 Wisconsin ..........covuiiinin... _ 6
Ohio ...ovviiii i 18 Total -\ 473
Oklahoma ........................ 4 -

Waldenbooks Specialty Retail Stores

Waldenbooks Specialty Retail is the nation’s leading operator of mall-based bookstores in terms of sales
and number of stores, offering customers a convenient source for new releases, hardcover and paper-
back bestsellers, periodicals and a standard selection of other titles. Waldenbooks Specialty Retail
operates stores under the Waldenbooks, Borders Express and Borders Outlet names, as well as Borders-
branded airport stores. Waldenbooks Specialty Retail generates cash flow that the Company uses to
finance its growth initiatives. Average sales per square foot were $273 and average sales per store were
$1.1 million for 2005. Waldenbooks Specialty Retail stores average approximately 3,900 square feet in
size, and carry an average of 21,000 titles, ranging from 15,000 in an airport store to 58,000 in a large
format store.

In 2004, the Company piloted the conversion of 37 Waldenbooks stores to Borders Express stores, with
an expanded merchandise selection, including music, movies and gifts and stationery. During 2005,
another 98 Waldenbooks stores were converted to Borders Express stores.

The number of Waldenbooks Specialty Retail stores located in each state and the District of Columbia as
of January 28, 2006 are listed below:

Number of Number of
State Stores State Stores
Alabama.......................... 3 Idaho ......... .. i 3
Alaska ........ ... .. ... ... ... ... 5 Hinois . ...ovvvii i 31
Arizona ... 9 Indiana........................... 15
Arkansas. ........ ... ... 5 Towa. ..o 9
California......................... 51 Kansas .........ocoviiiin... 5
Colorado ............... .. ..., 10 Kentucky ........ ... oo Ll 11
Connecticut . « . v oo vv v 14 Louisiana . ........ ... ... ... ... 5
Delaware . ........ccoviini.... 2 Maine ........coiiiiii 2
District of Columbia................ 1 Maryland . ........... .o oL 19
Florida ........................... 41 Massachusetts. . . ..., 24
Georgia . ....oiiiii 16 Michigan ....... ... ... ... L. 28
Hawaii.......... ... ... ... ... .... 8 Minnesota . ........ i 6



Number of Number of

State Stores State Stores
MISSISSIPPL + « v vov e e 4 Rhode Island ........... ... ... ... 3
MiSSOU « v v ve e e 12 South Carolina .................... 11
Montana ...........oviiirinanan.. 4 South Dakota ..................... 2
Nebraska ......................... 5 Tennessee .. ... 10
Nevada................ooovn... 4 Texas . ovvei 38
New Hampshire ................... 5 Utah.............................

New Jersey . ..., 23 Vermont. .............oiii... 3
New Mexico «.vvvvvviinnenan.. 2 Virginia . ........ ... oo o 25
New York. .. ... ... 39 Washington ....................... 14
North Carolina .................... 19 West Virginia. . .................... 8
North Dakota ..................... 3 Wisconsin . .....ovvivininnnn... 11
Ohio ........ ..o i 35 Wyoming . ........ ... ... ... 2
Oklahoma ........................ 10 Total . ... 678
Oregon ........... ... . ..oi... 8 -
Pennsylvania ...................... 51

International Stores

The Company’s International operations began in 1997 with the acquisition of Books etc. in the United
Kingdom and the opening of a superstore in Singapore. Since then, the Company has expanded its
International operations to establish a presence on four continents, and opened 13 International
superstores in 2005.

International superstores as of January 28, 2006 are listed below:

Number of
Country Stores
Australia . ... 14
New Zealand . . . ..o
Puerto RIiCo . ... e 3
SIngapore. . ... 1
United Kingdom . .. ... .o 35
Total . 55

International superstores, which operate under the Borders name, achieved average sales per square foot
of $356 and average sales per superstore of $8.9 million in 2005. International superstores range between
14,200 and 42,400 square feet in size, and are located in both city center as well as suburban locations.
All International superstores offer book, music, movie and gifts and stationery merchandise and feature
cafes. Those cafes located in the United Kingdom are licensed to and operated by Starbucks Coffee
Company (U.K.) Limited. The gifts and stationery departments in the United Kingdom and select Asia
Pacific superstores are branded Paperchase. The Company owns substantially all of Paperchase, as
discussed below.

The Company also operated 33 stores under the Books etc. name in the United Kingdom as of
January 28, 2006, which are small-format stores located primarily in central London or in various airports
in the United Kingdom. These stores primarily offer books and average 4,600 square feet in size, with the
largest being 10,700 square feet and the smallest being 600 square feet.
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In July 2004, the Company increased its 15% equity stake in Paperchase to 97%. Paperchase is the brand
leader in design-led and innovative stationery retailing in the United Kingdom. As of January 28, 2006,
the Company operated 45 Paperchase locations as stand-alone stores and concessions in selected House
of Fraser and Selfridges stores. In addition, the Company operates concessions in certain International
Borders superstores and certain Books etc. stores. The vast majority of Paperchase’s merchandise is
developed specifically by and for Paperchase and, as such, can only be found in Paperchase stores.

Internet

The Company, through its subsidiaries, has agreements with Amazon.com, Inc. (‘‘Amazon’’) to operate
Web sites utilizing the Borders.com, Waldenbooks.com, Borders.co.uk and Booksetc.co.uk URLs (the
““Web Sites’’). Under these agreements, Amazon is the merchant of record for all sales made through the
Web Sites, and determines all prices and other terms and conditions applicable to such sales. Amazon is
responsible for the fulfillment of all products sold through the Web Sites and retains all payments from
customers. The Company receives referral fees for products purchased through the Web Sites. The
agreements contain mutual indemnification provisions, including provisions that define between the
parties the responsibilities with respect to any liabilities for sales, use and similar taxes, including
penalties and interest, associated with products sold on the Web Sites. Currently, taxes are not collected
with respect to products sold on the Web Sites except in certain states.

In addition, Borders has an agreement with Amazon to allow customers ordering certain book, music
and movie products through certain of Amazon’s Web sites to purchase and pick up the merchandise at
Borders stores in the United States (‘‘Express In-Store Pick Up’’). Under this agreement, the Company is
the merchant of record for all sales made through this service, and determines all prices and other terms
and conditions applicable to such sales. The Company fulfills all products sold through Express In-Store
Pick Up. In addition, the Company assumes all risk, cost and responsibility related to the sale and
fulfillment of all products sold. The Company recognizes revenue upon customers’ pick up of the
merchandise at the store. The Company also pays referral fees to Amazon pursuant to this agreement.

Distribution

The Company’s centralized distribution system, consisting of 14 distribution facilities worldwide, en-
hances its ability to manage inventory on a store-by-store basis. Inventory is shipped from vendors
primarily to the Company’s distribution centers. Approximately 92% and 87% of the books carried by
Borders and Waldenbooks, respectively, are processed through the Company’s distribution facilities.
Approximately 76% of the inventory that arrives from publishers is processed within 48 hours for
shipment to the stores, and new release titles and rush orders are processed within 24 hours. Borders
purchases substantially all of its music and movie merchandise directly from manufacturers and utilizes
the Company’s own distribution center to ship approximately 95% of its music and movie inventory to its
stores.

In general, unsold books can be returned to their publishers at cost. Domestic Borders superstores and
Waldenbooks Specialty Retail stores return books to the Company’s centralized returns center near
Nashville, Tennessee to be processed for return to the publishers. In general, Borders can return music
and movie merchandise to its vendors at cost plus an additional fee to cover handling and processing
COSts.



As of January 28, 2006, the Company’s primary distribution centers were located in the following localities:

Locality, Country Number Square Footage
Bedfordshire, United Kingdom . .......... ... ... .. . ... ... . ..., 1 67,000
California, United States. ... ...... ...t 1 414,000
Cornwall, United Kingdom ......... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... 1 25,000
Indiana, United States. ... ... ..ottt 1 96,000
Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. . ... 1 4,200
Melbourne, Australia. . .........oiii 1 35,300
Ohio, United States .. ... ...ttt 1 172,000
Pennsylvania, United States........... ..., 1 115,000
Puerto Rico .. ..ot 1 700
SINGAPOIE. . . oo 1 8,200
St. Columb, United Kingdom ........... ... ... .o i 1 50,000
Tennessee, United States . .. .. ..ottt 3 926,000
Total .o 14 1,913,400

The Company also utilizes the back rooms of three International superstores to process locally sourced
merchandise, totaling approximately 3,700 square feet.

The Company has undertaken a multi-year initiative to enhance the efficiency of its distribution and
logistics network. A component of this strategy is the relocation of the Company’s Harrisburg, Penn-
sylvania distribution facility to a new, 600,000 square foot, state-of-the-art facility near Carlisle, Penn-
sylvania beginning in the first quarter of 2006. In addition, some of the operations of the Company’s
Indiana facility, and those of a facility in Tennessee, will be transferred to other facilities in 2006. These
changes will optimize inventory and supply chain management, and position the Company for contin-
ued future growth.

Employees

As of January 28, 2006, the Company had a total of approximately 16,400 full-time employees and
approximately 19,100 part-time employees worldwide. When hiring new employees, the Company con-
siders a number of factors, including education, experience, diversity, personality and orientation toward
customer service. All new store employees participate in a training program that provides up to two
weeks of in-store training in all aspects of customer service and selling, including title searches for in-
stock and in-print merchandise, sorting, merchandising, operation of point of sale terminals and store
policies and procedures. The Company believes that its relations with employees are generally excellent.
In general, the Company’s employees are not represented by unions, with the exception of the employ-
ees of two Borders stores. Employees of both stores elected to be represented by the United Food and
Commercial Workers International Union (‘“UFCW’’). The employees of both of these stores have
ratified contracts which expire in 2006.

Trademarks and Service Marks

Borders®, Borders Book Shop®, Borders Books & Music®, and Borders Books Music Cafe® among other
marks, are all registered trademarks and service marks used by Borders. Borders Rewards™ is a service
mark used by Borders and Waldenbooks. Brentano’s®, Waldenbooks®, and Waldenkids®, among other
marks, are all registered trademarks and service marks used by Waldenbooks. Books etc.® is a registered
trademark and service mark used by Borders (UK) Limited. Paperchase® is a registered trademark used
by Paperchase Products Limited. Borders.com® is a registered trademark and service mark used by
Borders Online, Inc. The Borders, Waldenbooks, Books etc., Borders.com, Waldenbooks.com, and

Borders.co.uk service marks are used as trade names in connection with their business operations.
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Executive Officers of the Company

Set forth below is certain information regarding the executive officers of the Company:

Name Age Position

Gregory P. Josefowicz ... ... 53  Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Vincent E. Aleruda ... ... 56  President, Borders Group U.S.

Cedric J. Vanzura ......... 42 President, Borders Group International, Paperchase Worldwide and
Information Technology

Thomas D. Carney ........ 59  Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

Daniel T. Smith .......... 41  Senior Vice President, Human Resources

Edward W. Wilhelm ....... 47  Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer

Gregory P. Josefowicz has served as President, Chief Executive Officer and as a director of the Company
since November 1999, and as Chairman of the Board since January 2002. For more than five years prior
to joining the Company, he served in a variety of executive positions with Jewel-Osco, a food and drug
retailer that is currently a division of Albertson’s, Inc., most recently as President. Mr. Josefowicz also
serves as a director of Ryerson, Inc., a distributor and processor of metals and PetSmart, Inc., a provider
of products, services and solutions for the lifetime needs of pets.

Vincent E. Altruda has served as President of Borders Group U.S. since April 2005. He also served as
President of the Company’s International operations from December 1997 until February 2004 and as
President of Borders Stores Worldwide from February 2004 until April 2005. From February 1997
through December 1997, Mr. Altruda served as Senior Vice President of Borders Store Development.
From February 1995 through February 1997, Mr. Altruda served as Senior Vice President of Borders
Store Operations. From December 1992 through February 1995, Mr. Altruda served as Vice President of
Borders Store Operations.

Cedric J. Vanzura has served as President of Borders Group International, Paperchase Worldwide and
Information Technology since April 2005. He also served as President of Waldenbooks Specialty Retail
and Information Technology since March 2003. Prior to rejoining the Company, Mr. Vanzura served as
Chief Strategy Officer, Information Systems and Services for General Motors Corporation from 2000 to
2003. He was President and Chief Operating Officer for Lifemasters, a national disease management
provider, from 1999 to 2000. From 1994 to 1999, Mr. Vanzura served in a variety of management
positions with the Company, most recently as President of Borders Online.

Thomas D. Carney has been Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of the Company since
December 1994. For more than five years prior to joining the Company, Mr. Carney was a Partner at the
law firm of Dickinson, Wright, Moon, Van Dusen & Freeman in Detroit, Michigan.

Daniel T. Smith has served as Senior Vice President of Human Resources of the Company since March
2000. From April 1998 to March 2000, Mr. Smith served as Vice President of Human Resources of
Waldenbooks. Mr. Smith served as Director of Human Resources for Waldenbooks from April 1996 to
April 1998. He also served as Director of Compensation and Benefits of the Company from July 1995 to
April 1996.

Edward W. Wilhelm has served as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company
since August 2000. From 1997 through August 2000, Mr. Wilhelm served as Vice President of Planning,
Reporting and Treasury for the Company. From 1994 through 1997, Mr. Wilhelm served as Vice
President of Finance. Mr. Wilhelm serves as a director of The Steak n Shake Company.

Additional Information

The Company’s Web site is located at www.bordersgroupinc.com. The Company makes available on this
Web site under ‘‘Investors,”” annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current
reports on Form 8K and amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after having

8



electronically filed or furnished such materials to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. Also
available on this Web site are the Company’s corporate governance documents, including its committee
charters and its Business Conduct Policy and a Code of Ethics Relating to Financial Reporting. The
Company will disclose on its Web site any amendments to the Business Conduct Policy or the Code of
Ethics Relating to Financial Reporting and any waiver of such policies applicable to any executive officer.

Printed copies of any of the documents available on the Company’s Web site will be provided to any
shareholder without charge upon written request to Anne Roman, Investor Relations, Borders Group,
Inc., 100 Phoenix Drive, Ann Arbor, Michigan 48108-2202.

The Company has filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, as an exhibit to its Form 10-K
annual reports for fiscal 2004 and 2005, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Section 302 Certifications regarding the
quality of the Company’s public disclosure. During these years, Mr. Josefowicz certified to the New York
Stock Exchange that he was not aware of any violation by the Company of any NYSE Corporate
Governance Listing Standards.

Item 1A. Risk Factors
Risk Factors

The following risk factors and other information included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K should
be carefully considered. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones the Company
faces. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to the Company or that the Company
currently deems immaterial also may impair the Company’s business operations. If any of the following
risks occur, the Company’s business, financial condition, operating results and cash flows could be
materially adversely affected.

Expansion Strategy

The Company’s growth strategy is dependent principally on its ability to open new superstores and
operate them profitably. The Company has been engaged in an aggressive expansion and remodel
program, pursuant to which it has opened 15 domestic superstores and completed major remodels of
100 existing domestic superstores in 2005. In 2006, the Company expects to open approximately
35 domestic superstores and complete major remodels of up to 100 existing domestic superstores.
Beginning in 2005, new stores opened and the majority of remodeled stores will feature cafes offering
Seattle’s Best Coffee and gifts and stationery by Paperchase. The Company also opened 13 International
superstores in 2005, and expects to open approximately 12 to 14 International superstores in 2006,
primarily in the United Kingdom and Australia.

In general, the rate of the Company’s expansion depends, among other things, on general economic
and business conditions affecting consumer confidence and spending, the availability of qualified man-
agement personnel and the Company’s ability to manage the operational aspects of its growth. It also
depends upon the availability of adequate capital, which in turn depends in a large part upon cash flow
generated by Borders and Waldenbooks Specialty Retail, as well as the continued ability of the Company
to locate and develop suitable sites for its superstore expansion and kiosk programs.

The Company’s expansion into international markets has additional risks. It is costly to establish interna-
tional facilities and operations, and to promote the Company’s brands internationally. Sales from the
Company’s International segment may not offset the expense of establishing and maintaining the
related operations and, therefore, these operations may not be profitable on a sustained basis. The
Company is also subject to a number of risks inherent in selling abroad, including, but not limited to,
risks with respect to foreign exchange rate fluctuations, local economic and political conditions, restric-
tive governmental policies and laws (such as trade protection measures, limitations on the repatriation of
funds, nationalization and consumer protection laws and restrictions on pricing or discounts), difficulty
in developing and simultaneously managing a larger number of unique foreign operations as a result of
distance, language and cultural differences, tax and other laws and policies of the U.S. and other
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jurisdictions and geopolitical events, including war and terrorism. In addition, local companies may have
a substantial competitive advantage because of their greater understanding of, and focus on, the local
customer, as well as their more established local brand name recognition. Also, the Company may not be
able to hire, train, retain, motivate and manage required personnel, which may limit the Company’s
growth internationally.

The Company’s future results will depend, among other things, on its success in implementing its
expansion strategy. If stores are opened more slowly than expected, sales at new stores reach targeted
levels more slowly than expected (or fail to reach targeted levels) or related overhead costs increase in
excess of expected levels, the Company’s ability to successfully implement its expansion strategy would be
adversely affected. In addition, the Company expects to open new superstores in certain markets in
which it is already operating superstores, which could adversely affect sales at those existing stores.

There can be no assurance that the Company will sustain its accelerated rate of superstore growth or that
it will achieve and sustain acceptable levels of profitability, particularly as other leading national and
regional book, music and movie store chains develop and open superstores.

Waldenbooks

Waldenbooks’ results are highly dependent upon conditions in the mall retailing industry, including
overall mall traffic. Mall traffic has been sluggish over the past several years and the Company expects it
to remain so for the foreseeable future. In addition, increased competition from superstores has ad-
versely affected Waldenbooks’ sales and comparable store sales. There can be no assurance that mall
traffic will not decline further or that superstore competition, or other factors, will not further adversely
affect Waldenbooks’ sales.

Seasonality

The Company’s business is highly seasonal, with sales generally highest in the fourth quarter. In 2005,
36.1% of the Company’s sales and substantially all of the Company’s operating income were generated in
the fourth quarter. The Company’s results of operations depend significantly upon the holiday selling
season in the fourth quarter; less than satisfactory net sales for such period could have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s financial condition or results of operations for the year and may not be
sufficient to cover any losses which may be incurred in the first three quarters of the year. Other factors
that could affect the holiday selling season include general economic and geopolitical conditions, overall
consumer spending patterns, weather conditions and, with respect to the Company’s mall business,
overall mall traffic. The Company’s expansion program generally is weighted with store openings in the
second half of the fiscal year. In the future, changes in the number and timing of store openings, or
other factors, may result in different seasonality trends.

Competition

The retail book business is highly competitive. Competition within the retail book industry is frag-
mented, with Borders facing direct competition from other national superstore operators, as well as
regional chains and superstores. In addition, Borders and Waldenbooks compete with each other, as well
as other specialty retail stores that offer books in a particular area of specialty, independent single store
operators, discount stores, drug stores, warehouse clubs, mail order clubs and mass merchandisers. In
the future, Borders and Waldenbooks may face additional competition from other categories of retailers
entering the retail book market.

The music and movie businesses are also highly competitive and Borders faces competition from large
established music chains, established movie chains, as well as specialty retail stores, movie rental stores,
discount stores, warehouse clubs and mass merchandisers. In addition, consumers receive television and
mail order offers and have access to mail order clubs. The largest mail order clubs are affiliated with
major manufacturers of pre-recorded music and may have advantageous marketing relationships with
their affiliates.
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The Internet is a significant channel for retailing in all media categories that the Company carries. In
particular, the retailing of books, music and movies over the Internet is highly competitive. In addition,
the Company faces competition from companies engaged in the business of selling books, music and
movies via electronic means, including the downloading of books, music and movie content.

Consumer Spending Patterns

Sales of books, music and movies have historically been dependent upon discretionary consumer
spending, which may be affected by general economic conditions, consumer confidence and other
factors beyond the control of the Company. In addition, sales are dependent in part on the strength of
new release products which are controlled by vendors. A decline in consumer spending on books, music
and movies, or in bestseller book, music and movie buying could have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s financial condition and results of operations and its ability to fund its expansion strategy.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The results of operations of the International segment are exposed to foreign exchange rate fluctuations
as the financial results of the applicable subsidiaries are translated from the local currency into U.S.
dollars upon consolidation. As exchange rates vary, sales and other operating results, when translated,
may differ materially from expectations. In addition, the Company is subject to gains and losses on
foreign currency transactions, which could vary based on fluctuations in exchange rates and the timing
of the transactions and their settlement.

Potential for Uninsured Losses and/or Claims

The Company is subject to the possibility of uninsured losses from risks such as terrorism, earthquakes,
hurricanes or floods, for which no, or limited, insurance coverage is maintained. The Company also is
subject to risk of losses which may arise from adverse litigation results or other claims.

Changes to Information Technology Systems May Disrupt the Supply Chain

The Company’s success depends, in large part, on its ability to source and distribute merchandise
efficiently. The Company continues to evaluate and is currently implementing modifications and up-
grades to its information technology systems supporting the supply chain, including merchandise plan-
ning and forecasting, inventory, warehouse and price management. Modifications involve replacing
legacy systems with successor systems or making changes to legacy systems. The Company is aware of the
inherent risks associated with replacing and changing these core systems, including accurately capturing
data and possibly encountering supply chain disruptions, and believes it is taking appropriate action to
mitigate the risks through testing, training and staging implementation as well as securing appropriate
commercial contracts with third-party vendors supplying such replacement technologies. The Company
anticipates that the launch of these successor systems will continue to take place in a phased approach
over an approximate three to four year period that began in 2005. There can be no assurances that the
Company will successfully launch these new systems as planned or that they will occur without supply
chain or other disruptions or without impacts on inventory valuation. These disruptions or impacts, if
not anticipated and appropriately mitigated, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
financial condition and results of operations.

Distribution and Logistics Network

The Company has undertaken a multi-year initiative to enhance the efficiency of its distribution and
logistics network. A component of this strategy is the relocation of the Company’s Harrisburg, Penn-
sylvania distribution facility to a new, 600,000 square foot, state-of-the-art facility near Carlisle, Penn-
sylvania beginning in the first quarter of 2006. In addition, some of the operations of the Company’s
Indiana facility, and those of a facility in Tennessee, will be transferred to other facilities in 2006. There
can be no assurances that the Company will successfully open the new facility in Carlisle, Pennsylvania on
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time, or that the Company will successfully transfer the operations of the Indiana facility and the
Tennessee facility to the new facility. These activities, if not successfully executed, could have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition and results of operations.

Planned Retirement of Mr. Josefowicz; Reliance on Key Personnel

Mr. Josefowicz, President, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, has advised the
Company’s Board of Directors that he will retire no later than the end of fiscal 2007. Mr. Josefowicz will
remain in his current role until the Board names a successor, and will assist the Board as needed through
the end of fiscal 2007 to assure an orderly transition. Management believes that the Company’s contin-
ued success will depend to a significant extent upon the efforts and abilities of the key officers of the
Company and each of its subsidiaries. A failure to hire a suitable replacement for Mr. Josefowicz or the
loss of the services of any of the Company’s key officers could have a material adverse effect on the
Company. The Company does not maintain ‘‘key man’’ life insurance on any of its key officers.

Other Risks

The Company is also subject to numerous other risks and uncertainties which could adversely affect the
Company’s business, financial condition, operating results and cash flows. These risks include, but are
not limited to, higher than anticipated interest, occupancy, labor, merchandise, distribution and inven-
tory shrinkage costs, unanticipated work stoppages, energy disruptions or shortages or higher than
anticipated energy costs, asset impairments relating to underperforming stores or other unusual items,
higher than anticipated costs associated with the closing of underperforming stores, the continued
availability of adequate capital to fund the Company’s operations, the stability and capacity of the
Company’s information systems, unanticipated costs or problems relating to the informational technol-
ogy systems required for the operations of the Company, and changes in accounting rules.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.

Item 2. Properties

Borders leases all of its stores. Borders’ store leases generally have an average initial term of 15 to
20 years with multiple three- to five-year renewal options. At January 28, 2006, the average unexpired
term under Borders’ existing store leases in the United States was 11.3 years prior to the exercise of any
options. The expiration of Borders’ leases for stores open at January 28, 2006 are as follows:

Number of
Lease Terms to Expire During 12 Months Ending on or About January 31 Stores
2007 e 4
2008 . 8
2000 . e 11
2000 . . 13
20T . 17
2012 and later . . ..o o 420
Total . .o 473

Waldenbooks Specialty Retail leases all of its stores. Waldenbooks Specialty Retail’s store leases generally
have an initial term of five to 10 years, and lease renewals generally have a term of one to three years. At
present, the average unexpired term under Waldenbooks Specialty Retail’s existing store leases is
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approximately 2.1 years. The expiration of Waldenbooks Specialty Retail’s leases for stores open at
January 28, 2006 are as follows:

Number of
Lease Terms to Expire During 12 Months Ending on or About January 31 Stores
2007 o 410
20008 . 92
2000 . 87
2000, 53
20 L . 24
2012 and later . .. oo o 12
Total . .o 678

The Company leases all of its International superstores. International store leases generally have an
initial term of 15 to 25 years. At present, the average unexpired term under existing International store
leases is approximately 13.0 years. The expiration of International superstore leases for stores open at
January 28, 2006 are as follows:

Number of
Lease Terms to Expire During 12 Months Ending on or About January 31 Stores
2007 o —
20008 . —
2000 . 2
2000, —
20 L . —
2012 and Jater . . ..o e 53
Total . .o 55

Books etc. operated 33 stores in the United Kingdom as of January 28, 2006. Books etc. generally leases
its stores under operating leases with terms ranging from 5 to 25 years. The average remaining lease
term for Books etc. stores is 10.0 years. Paperchase generally leases its stores under operating leases with
terms ranging from 6 to 20 years. The average remaining lease term for Paperchase stores is 8.3 years.

The Company leases a portion of its corporate headquarters in Ann Arbor, Michigan and owns the
remaining building and improvements. The Company leases all distribution centers.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Two former employees, individually and on behalf of a purported class consisting of all current and
former employees who work or worked as Inventory Managers or Sales Managers in Borders stores in the
State of California at any time from September 30, 2001 through the trial date, have filed an action
against the Company in the Superior Court of California for the County of San Francisco. The Com-
plaint alleges, among other things, that the individual plaintiffs and the purported class members were
improperly classified as exempt employees and that the Company violated the California Labor Code
and the California Business and Professions Code by failing to (i) pay required overtime, (ii) provide
meal periods, rest periods, and accurate itemized wage statements, (iii) keep accurate records of
employees’ hours of work, and (iv) pay all compensation owed at the time of termination of employment
to certain members of the purported class. The relief sought includes damages, restitution, penalties,
injunctive relief, interest, costs, and attorneys’ fees and such other relief as the court deems proper. The
Company intends to vigorously defend the action.
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On October 29, 2002, Gary Gerlinger, individually and on behalf of all other similarly situated consum-
ers in the United States who, during the period from August 1, 2001 to the present, purchased books
online from either Amazon.com, Inc. (‘‘Amazon’’) or the Company, instituted an action against the
Company and Amazon in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California. The
Complaint alleges that the agreement pursuant to which an affiliate of Amazon operates Borders.com as
a co-branded site (the ‘““Mirror Site’’) violates federal anti-trust laws, California statutory law and the
common law of unjust enrichment. The Complaint seeks injunctive relief, damages, including treble
damages or statutory damages where applicable, attorneys fees, costs and disbursements, disgorgement
of all sums obtained by allegedly wrongful acts, interest and declaratory relief. On November 1, 2005, the
Court granted the Company’s Motion to Dismiss all of the remaining claims of the plaintiff. The anti-
trust claims were dismissed with prejudice, and the unfair competition claims were dismissed without
prejudice. The plaintiff has appealed the decision.

Certain states and private litigants have sought to impose sales or other tax collection efforts on out-of-
jurisdiction companies that engage in e-commerce. The Company and Amazon have been named as
defendants in actions filed by a private litigant on behalf of the state of Illinois under the state’s False
Claims Act relating to the failure to collect use taxes on Internet sales in Illinois for periods both before
and after the implementation of the Mirror Site Agreement. The Complaints seek judgments, jointly and
severally, against the defendants for, among other things, injunctive relief, treble the amount of damages
suffered by the state of Illinois as a result of the alleged violations of the defendants, penalties, costs and
expenses, including legal fees. Similar actions previously filed against the Company in Tennessee and
Nevada have been dismissed.

In addition to the matters described above, the Company is, from time to time, involved in or affected by
other litigation incidental to the conduct of its businesses. While some of such matters may involve claims
for large sums (including, from time to time, actions which are asserted to be maintainable as class
action suits) the Company does not believe that any such other litigation or claims pending at the
current time will have a material adverse effect on its liquidity, financial position, or results of operations.
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Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

Not applicable.

PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases
of Equity Securities

The following table sets forth, for the fiscal quarters indicated, the high and low closing market prices for
the Company’s Common Stock and the quarterly dividends declared.

Dividends
High low  Declared
Fiscal Quarter 2005
First QUArter . ..o ettt et et e et e $27.47  $23.59 $0.09
Second QUArter . .. ..o vttt $26.20  $23.92 $0.09
Third Quarter . ... ..ottt $25.30  $18.96 $0.09
Fourth Quarter . ... ... i $24.70  $18.71 $0.10
Fiscal Quarter 2004
First Quarter . . ..o v i $25.21 $21.27 $0.08
Second QUArter . .. ..o vvtt e $24.94  $22.09 $0.08
Third QUAarter . . ...oovtt et $25.22  $21.42 $0.08
Fourth Quarter ... ... ...ttt $26.30  $21.95 $0.09

The Company’s Common Stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol BGP.
As of March 28, 2006, there were 3,154 holders of record of the Company’s Common Stock.

In December 2005, the Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.10 per share, which
equaled $6.5 million in total, on the Company’s common stock, payable January 25, 2006 to stockholders
of record at the close of business January 4, 2006. The Company has declared and paid quarterly cash
dividends since November 2003, and intends to pay regular quarterly cash dividends, subject to Board
approval, going forward. The declaration and payment of dividends is subject to the discretion of the
Board and to certain limitations under the Michigan Business Corporation Act. In addition, the
Company’s ability to pay dividends is restricted by certain agreements to which the Company is a party.
See ‘“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Liquid-
ity and Capital Resources.”

The following table provides information with respect to the equity compensation plan under which
equity securities of the Company were authorized for issuance on January 28, 2006 (number of shares in
thousands):

Number of
Number of Weighted- Shares
Awards Average Available

Plan Category Outstanding®? Exercise Price®  for Issuance

Plans approved by stockholders:
2004 Long-Term Incentive Plan™ .. .. ... ... ... ... 517 23.80 3,841

(1) The 2004 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2004 Plan’’) was approved by shareholders in May 2004,
and replaced all prior equity compensation plans (the ‘“‘Prior Plans’’). At January 28, 2006, there were
approximately 6.3 million stock options outstanding under the Prior Plans with a weighted-average
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exercise price of $22.98, which, if forfeited or cancelled, become available for issuance under the 2004
Plan.

(2) Number of awards outstanding as of January 28, 2006 includes approximately 473,741 restricted
share units and approximately 43,080 stock options.

(3) Reflects the weighted-average exercise price of stock options outstanding as of January 28, 2006 only.

The table below presents the total number of shares repurchased during the fourth quarter of fiscal
2005:

Approximate

Total Number of Dollar Value of

Shares Purchased Shares that May

Total Average as Part of Publicly Yet Be Purchased
Number of Price Paid Announced Plans Under the Plans

Fiscal Period Shares per Share" or Programs® or Programs

October 23, 2005 through

November 19, 2005 .................. 1,367,900 $19.34 1,367,900 $ 72,975,125
November 20, 2005 through

December 17,2005 .. ................ 650,000 $21.12 650,000 $ 62,714,366
December 18, 2005 through

January 28, 2006 .............. ... .. 2,464,700 $21.52 2,462,200  $246,058,387
Total ..o 4,482,600 $20.80 4,480,100  $246,058,387

1) Average price paid per share includes commissions and is rounded to the nearest two decimal
places.

(2) On January 11, 2006, the Company announced that the Board of Directors authorized $250.0 mil-
lion of potential share repurchases.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL AND OPERATING DATA

The information set forth below should be read in conjunction with ‘“Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations’ and the Company’s consolidated financial
statements and the notes thereto.

Fiscal Year Ended

Jan. 28, Jan. 23, Jan. 25, Jan. 26, Jan. 27,

(dollars in millions except per share data) 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Statement of Operations Data
Domestic Borders superstore sales . . ... ... $2,709.5  $2,588.9  $2,470.2  $2,319.0  $2,234.1
Waldenbooks Specialty Retail sales . ... ... 744.8 779.9 820.9 852.2 902.1
International sales ................. ... 576.4 510.7 407.5 314.9 251.7
Total sales . .........cooiiiinn. $4,030.7  $3,879.5 $3,698.6  $3,486.1  $3,387.9
Operating income . ................... $ 1734 $ 2167 $ 1981 § 187.6 $ 146.7
Income from continuing operations . . .. .. $ 101.0 $ 1319 $ 1173 $ 1076 $ 80.9
Cumulative effect of accounting change

(netof tax). ..., — — 2.1 — —
Net income . ......ooviininan.. $ 101.0 $ 1319 $ 1152 $ 107.6 $ 80.9
Per Share Data
Diluted earnings per common share from

continuing operations ............... $ 142 $ 169 $ 148 $ 131 $ 098
Diluted loss per common share from

cumulative effect of accounting change. . — — (0.02) — —
Diluted earnings per common share ... ... $ 142 $ 169 $ 146 $ 131 $ 0.98
Cash dividends declared per common share $ 037 $ 033 $ 008 § —  $ —
Balance Sheet Data
Working capital ...................... $ 3267 $ 5694 $ 556.0 $ 463.0 $ 3428
Total assets . ....oovvvnenennen. $2,572.2  $2,628.8  $2,584.6  $2,378.0  $2,285.6
Short-term borrowings................. $ 2064 $ 141.0 $ 1407 $ 1121 $ 816

Long-term debt, including current portion  § 56 $ 559 $ 573 $§ 500 $ —

Long-term capital lease obligations,

©~

19.6
984.0

“

51.4
908.2

including current portion ............ $ 05 ¢ 0.1 $ 0.4
Stockholders’ equity......... ... ... .. $ 927.8 $1,088.9  $1,100.6

©~
“

(1) The Company’s 2005 fiscal year consisted of 53 weeks.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
General

Borders Group, Inc., through its subsidiaries, Borders, Inc. (‘““Borders’’), Walden Book Company, Inc.
(““Waldenbooks”’), Borders (UK) Limited, Borders Australia Pty Limited and others (individually and
collectively, “‘the Company”’), is the second largest operator of book, music and movie superstores and
the largest operator of mall-based bookstores in the world based upon both sales and number of stores.
At January 28, 2006, the Company operated 528 superstores under the Borders name, including 473 in
the United States, 35 in the United Kingdom, 14 in Australia, three in Puerto Rico, two in New Zealand
and one in Singapore. The Company also operated 678 mall-based and other bookstores primarily under
the Waldenbooks name in the United States and 33 bookstores under the Books etc. name in the United
Kingdom. In addition, the Company owned and operated United Kingdom-based Paperchase Products
Limited (‘‘Paperchase’’), a designer and retailer of stationery, cards and gifts. As of January 28, 2006,
Paperchase operated 90 stores, primarily in the United Kingdom, and Paperchase shops have been
added to nearly 100 domestic Borders superstores.

The Company’s business strategy is to continue its growth and increase its profitability through
(i) expanding and refining its core domestic superstore business, (ii) driving International growth by
expanding established markets and leveraging infrastructure investments, (iii) leveraging strategic alli-
ances and in-store technologies which enhance the customer experience, and (iv) maximizing cash flow
and profitability at Waldenbooks Specialty Retail. Specifically, the Company has been engaged in an
aggressive expansion and remodel program, pursuant to which it has opened 15 domestic Borders
superstores and completed major remodels of 100 existing domestic superstores in 2005. In 2006, the
Company expects to open approximately 35 domestic superstores and complete major remodels of
approximately 100 existing domestic superstores. Beginning in 2005, new stores opened and the majority
of remodeled stores feature cafe offerings by Seattle’s Best Coffee and gifts and stationery merchandise
by Paperchase. The Company also opened 13 International superstores in 2005. International store
growth over the next several years will focus on existing markets, primarily in the United Kingdom and
Australia, with approximately 12 to 14 International store openings planned in 2006. The Waldenbooks
Specialty Retail segment has experienced negative comparable store sales percentages for the past
several years, primarily due to the overall decrease in mall traffic, sluggish bestsellers and the impact of
superstore openings. The Company is continuing to implement its plan for the optimization of the
Waldenbooks Specialty Retail store base in order to improve sales, net income and free cash flow. This
plan could result in further store closing costs or asset impairments over the next few years. In addition,
Waldenbooks Specialty Retail manages the Company’s seasonal businesses and small format stores,
including those in airports and outlet malls, and selective growth in these areas is expected in 2006. The
Company’s objectives with respect to these initiatives are to continue to grow consolidated sales and
earnings per share in 2006 and earn an acceptable return on its investment.

During the first quarter of 2006, the Company launched Borders Rewards, a loyalty program designed to
reward customers who shop at the Company’s stores throughout the U.S. Membership in Borders
Rewards is free, with no enrollment costs or annual fees. Members earn rewards every time they shop,
enjoy exclusive savings every week and may earn Personal Shopping Days every month. In addition, five
percent of all qualifying purchases made by members throughout the year go into a personal Holiday
Savings account, which can be used on holiday purchases made from November 15 through January 15.
Although Borders Rewards is expected to drive long-term sales improvements, initial costs of launching
this program are expected to approximate $0.04 to $0.05 per share in the first quarter of 2006.

Subject to Board approval, the Company plans to provide returns to stockholders through quarterly cash
dividends and share repurchases by utilizing free cash flow generated by the business. In January 2006,
the Board of Directors authorized $250.0 million of potential share repurchases. In December 2005, the
Board of Directors voted to increase the quarterly cash dividend by 11.1% to $0.10 per share on the
Company’s common stock.
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The Company, through its subsidiaries, has agreements with Amazon.com, Inc. (‘‘Amazon’’) to operate
Web sites utilizing the Borders.com, Waldenbooks.com, Borders.co.uk and Booksetc.co.uk URLs (the
““Web Sites’’). Under these agreements, Amazon is the merchant of record for all sales made through the
Web Sites, and determines all prices and other terms and conditions applicable to such sales. Amazon is
responsible for the fulfillment of all products sold through the Web Sites and retains all payments from
customers. The Company receives referral fees for products purchased through the Web Sites. The
agreements contain mutual indemnification provisions, including provisions that define between the
parties the responsibilities with respect to any liabilities for sales, use and similar taxes, including
penalties and interest, associated with products sold on the Web Sites. Currently, taxes are not collected
with respect to products sold on the Web Sites except in certain states.

In addition, Borders has an agreement with Amazon to allow customers ordering certain book, music
and movie products through certain of Amazon’s Web sites to purchase and pick up the merchandise at
Borders stores in the United States (‘‘Express In-Store Pick Up’’). Under this agreement, the Company is
the merchant of record for all sales made through this service, and determines all prices and other terms
and conditions applicable to such sales. The Company fulfills all products sold through Express In-Store
Pick Up. In addition, the Company assumes all risk, cost and responsibility related to the sale and
fulfillment of all products sold. The Company recognizes revenue upon customers’ pick up of the
merchandise at the store. The Company also pays referral fees to Amazon pursuant to this agreement.

In July 2004, the Company invested cash of $24.1 million, including debt repayment of $4.1 million, in
connection with an increase in its 15% equity stake in Paperchase Products, Ltd. (Paperchase), a leading
stationery retailer in the United Kingdom, to 97%. The acquisition has been accounted for as a purchase
in the Company’s International segment.

In August 2004, the Company entered into a licensing agreement with Seattle’s Best Coffee, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Starbucks Corporation, through which the Company will operate Seattle’s Best
Coffee-branded cafes within substantially all of the Company’s existing Borders superstores in the
continental U.S. and Alaska, and new stores as they are opened. Cafes located within existing Borders
superstores began conversion to Seattle’s Best Coffee cafes in early 2005, and will continue through
2007. These cafes will continue to be managed and staffed by Company employees, who will be trained
on Seattle’s Best Coffee brand standards and procedures. Seattle’s Best Coffee will also provide brand
direction, including branded products and oversight, and will receive royalty payments from the
Company.

The Company has signed an agreement with Berjaya Corporation Berhad (“‘Berjaya’), a publicly-listed
diversified corporation headquartered in Malaysia, to establish a franchise arrangement under which
Berjaya will operate Borders stores in Malaysia. As of January 28, 2006, Berjaya operated two Borders
stores in Malaysia. The Company has also signed an agreement with Al Maya Group (‘‘Al Maya’), a
diversified corporation headquartered in the United Arab Emirates, to establish a franchise agreement
under which Al Maya will operate Borders stores in the United Arab Emirates and other Gulf Coopera-
tion Council (““GCC”’) countries, the first of which is expected to open in Dubai in fiscal 2006.

On December 10, 2004, the Board of Directors of the Company approved a change in the Company’s
fiscal year-end. Effective with respect to fiscal 2005, the Company elected to change its fiscal year to a
52/53-week fiscal year ending on the Saturday closest to the last day of January. The Company imple-
mented this change in order to conform to industry standards and for certain administrative purposes.
As a result of the change, the Company’s 2005 fiscal year consisted of 53 weeks, and ended on
January 28, 2006. Also as a result, the Company’s 2006 fiscal year will consist of 53 weeks, and will end on
February 3, 2007. The Company’s fiscal years had previously ended on the Sunday immediately preced-
ing the last Wednesday in January. Fiscal 2004 consisted of 52 weeks and ended January 23, 2005. Fiscal
2003 consisted of 52 weeks and ended January 25, 2004. References herein to years are to the Company’s
fiscal years.
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Results of Operations

The following table presents the Company’s consolidated statements of operations data, as a percentage
of sales, for the three most recent fiscal years.

Jan. 28, Jan. 23, Jan. 25,
2006 2005 2004

SaleS . oo 100.0% 100.0%  100.0%
Other reVenUe . . .. ..ottt 1.2 1.3 1.8
Total revenue .. ... .. 101.2 101.3 101.8
Cost of merchandise sold (includes occupancy) ..................... 72.9 72.5 73.0
Gross margin . .......... . 28.3 28.8 28.8
Selling, general and administrative expenses . ....................... 23.6 22.9 22.8
Legal settlement expense ... .......uuiiiiiii i — — 0.1
Pre-opening eXpense ... ...t 0.2 0.1 0.2
Asset impairments and other writedowns ........... ... ... ... ... 0.2 0.2 0.3
Operating InCOMe. ... ..ottt 4.3 5.6 5.4
Interest eXPense . . ... ..ottt 0.4 0.2 0.2
Income before income tax ... .........ouiiii i 3.9 5.4 5.2
Income tax. . ..o ottt 1.4 2.0 2.0
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change ............. 2.5 3.4 3.2
Cumulative effect of accounting change (net of tax) ................. — — 0.1

Net INCOMIE . .« o vt ottt e e e e e 2.5% 3.4% 3.1%

Consolidated Results — Comparison of 2005 to 2004

Sales

Consolidated sales increased $151.2 million, or 3.9%, to $4,030.7 million in 2005 from $3,879.5 million
in 2004. This resulted primarily from increased sales in the Borders segment, due to the opening of new
superstores and positive comparable store sales. Also contributing to the increase in sales was the
International segment, due to the opening of new superstores, the acquisition of Paperchase and slightly
positive comparable store sales, partially offset by unfavorable foreign currency exchange rates. A
decrease in sales of the Waldenbooks Specialty Retail segment partially offset the increase in consoli-
dated sales, due primarily to store closures and negative comparable store sales.

Comparable store sales measures include stores open more than one year, with new stores included in
the calculation upon their 13" month of operation. Domestic Borders superstores’ comparable store
sales exclude those stores not offering music, of which there are 12, representing approximately 2% of
total sales. Comparable store sales measures for Waldenbooks Specialty Retail include the Company’s
mall-based seasonal businesses, and comparable store sales measures for International Borders super-
stores include sales from licensed departments operating within the superstores. International compara-
ble store sales are calculated in local currency. The calculation of 2005 comparable store sales increases
or decreases assume that 2005 and 2004 consisted of 53 weeks.

Comparable store sales for domestic Borders superstores increased 1.1% in 2005. The comparable store
sales increase was due primarily to the book category, with positive comparable stores sales of 4.2% in
2005. This increase was driven by strong sales of titles in adult fiction, young adult fiction, health, home,
religion and business and money management titles. Comparable store sales of movies increased in 2005
as well, growing 2.8%. The cafe and gift and stationery categories also positively impacted comparable
store sales in remodeled stores, resulting primarily from the conversions of cafes to the Seattle’s Best
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Coffee brand and gift and stationery departments to the Paperchase brand. Partially offsetting these
increases were comparable store sales decreases in the music category of 12.1%. The impact of price
changes on comparable store sales was not significant.

Waldenbooks Specialty Retail’s comparable store sales decreased 2.4% in 2005. The comparable store
sales decrease was primarily due to the sluggish mall environment and weaker book bestsellers, which
impacted Waldenbooks Specialty Retail to a greater degree than Borders superstores. The impact of
price changes on comparable store sales was not significant.

Comparable store sales for International Borders superstores increased 0.4% in 2005. Comparable store
sales increased in Singapore, Australia, New Zealand and Puerto Rico. Partially offsetting these increases
in comparable store sales were negative comparable store sales in the United Kingdom, primarily
resulting from the slow sales environment that persisted following the terrorist bombings in central
London during the second quarter of 2005. The impact of price changes on comparable store sales was
not significant.

Other Revenue

Other revenue for the Borders and International segments primarily consists of income recognized from
unredeemed gift cards, as well as wholesale revenue earned through sales of merchandise to Berjaya, as
part of a franchise agreement under which Berjaya opened two Borders stores in Malaysia in 2005. Other
revenue for the Borders segment also includes wholesale revenue earned through sales of merchandise
to other retailers, as well as referral fees received from Amazon as part of the Web Site agreements.
Other revenue for the International segment also includes license fees received from Starbucks Coffee
Company (U.K.) Limited. Other revenue in the Waldenbooks Specialty Retail segment primarily consists
of income recognized from unredeemed gift cards, as well as membership income from the Preferred
Reader Program.

Until October 2004, Waldenbooks sold memberships in its Preferred Reader Program, which offered
members discounts on purchases and other benefits. Waldenbooks has phased out its Preferred Reader
Program and is replacing it with other promotional programs in order to maximize long-term sales and
earnings. The Company recognized membership income on a straight-line basis over the 12-month term
of the membership, and categorized the income as ‘““‘Other revenue’ in the Company’s consolidated
statements of operations. Discounts on purchases were netted against “‘Sales’” in the Company’s consoli-
dated statements of operations.

Other revenue has decreased $3.4 million, or 6.6%, to $48.5 million in 2005 from $51.9 million in 2004.
The decrease is mainly due to the change in the Preferred Reader Program, partially offset by an
increase in the Borders and International segments, due primarily to wholesale revenue earned through
the franchise agreement with Berjaya in 2005, as well as increased third party cafe income in the
International segment.

Gross Margin

Consolidated gross margin increased $20.7 million, or 1.8%, to $1,139.7 million in 2005 from
$1,119.0 million in 2004. As a percentage of sales, consolidated gross margin decreased by 0.5%, to
28.3% in 2005 from 28.8% in 2004. This primarily resulted from a decrease in gross margin as a
percentage of sales for the Borders, Waldenbooks Specialty Retail and International segments. The
decrease in the Borders segment was primarily due to increased promotional discounts, distribution and
freight costs as a percentage of sales, partially offset by increased other revenue as a percentage of sales.
The decrease in the Waldenbooks Specialty Retail segment was due to decreased other revenue as a
percentage of sales due to the change in the Preferred Reader Program. The decrease in the Interna-
tional segment resulted from an increase in occupancy costs as a percentage of sales, due to a non-cash
correction of prior years’ straightline rent calculation and the increased supply chain costs of
Paperchase. Partially offsetting these items as a percentage of sales were increased other revenue and
decreased product costs, primarily due to the higher product margins generated by Paperchase.
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The Company classifies the following items as ““Cost of merchandise sold (includes occupancy)’ on its
consolidated statements of operations: product costs and related discounts, markdowns, freight,
shrinkage, capitalized inventory costs, distribution center costs (including payroll, rent, supplies, depre-
ciation, and other operating expenses), and store occupancy costs (including rent, common area
maintenance, depreciation, repairs and maintenance, taxes, insurance, and others). The Company’s
gross margin may not be comparable to that of other retailers, which may exclude the costs related to
their distribution network from cost of sales and include them in other financial statement lines.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Consolidated selling, general and administrative expenses (‘“‘SG&A”’) increased $61.8 million, or 6.9%,
to $952.1 million in 2005 from $890.3 million in 2004. As a percentage of sales, it increased by 0.7%, to
23.6% in 2005 from 22.9% in 2004. This increase primarily resulted from increases in SG&A expenses as
a percentage of sales for the Borders, Waldenbooks Specialty Retail and International segments. Borders
SG&A expenses as a percentage of sales increased primarily due to increased corporate payroll and store
operating expenses, partially offset by decreased advertising and store payroll expenses. The
Waldenbooks Specialty Retail increase was primarily due to increased corporate and store payroll and
operating expenses as a percentage of sales. The International increase in SG&A expenses as a percent-
age of sales was primarily the result of the increased store and corporate payroll expenses and store
operating costs of Paperchase, partially offset by decreased advertising.

The Company classifies the following items as ‘‘Selling, general and administrative expenses’ on its
consolidated statements of operations: store and administrative payroll, utilities, supplies and equipment
costs, credit card and bank processing fees, bad debt, legal and consulting fees, certain advertising
income and expenses and others.

Asset Impairments and Other Writedowns

In 2005, the Company recorded a $4.3 million writedown related to the impairment of certain long-lived
assets (primarily leasehold improvements, furniture, and fixtures), at certain underperforming Borders,
Waldenbooks Specialty Retail and Books etc. stores. In addition, the Company recorded a $2.3 million
charge related to the closure costs of certain Borders and Waldenbooks Specialty Retail stores.

In 2004, the Company recorded a $6.2 million writedown related to the impairment of certain long-lived
assets (primarily leasehold improvements, furniture, and fixtures), at certain underperforming Borders,
Waldenbooks Specialty Retail and Books etc. stores. In addition, the Company recorded a $1.0 million
charge related to the closure costs of certain Waldenbooks Specialty Retail stores.

Interest Expense

Consolidated interest expense increased $5.2 million, or 57.1%, to $14.3 million in 2005 from $9.1 mil-
lion in 2004. This was primarily a result of increased borrowings to fund corporate stock repurchases,
dividends and capital expenditures in 2005.

Taxes

The effective tax rate differed for the years presented from the federal statutory rate primarily as a result
of state income taxes, partially offset by international operations. The effective tax rate used was 36.5%
in 2005 and 2004.

Net Income

Due to the factors mentioned above, net income as a percentage of sales decreased 0.9%, to 2.5% from
3.4% in 2004, and net income dollars decreased to $101.0 million in 2005 from $131.9 million in 2004.
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Consolidated Results — Comparison of 2004 to 2003
Sales

Consolidated sales increased $180.9 million, or 4.9%, to $3,879.5 million in 2004 from $3,698.6 million
in 2003. This resulted primarily from increased sales in the Borders segment, due to the opening of new
superstores, partially offset by negative comparable store sales, and the International segment, due to the
opening of new superstores, the acquisition of Paperchase, positive comparable store sales and favorable
foreign currency exchange rates. A decrease in sales of the Waldenbooks Specialty Retail segment
partially offset the increase in consolidated sales, due primarily to store closures and negative compara-
ble store sales.

Comparable store sales measures include stores open more than one year, with new stores included in
the calculation upon their 13" month of operation. Domestic Borders superstores’ comparable store
sales exclude those stores not offering music, of which there are 13, representing approximately 2% of
total sales. Comparable store sales measures for Waldenbooks Specialty Retail include the Company’s
mall-based seasonal businesses, and comparable store sales measures for International Borders super-
stores include sales from licensed departments operating within the superstores. International compara-
ble store sales are calculated in local currency. The calculation of 2004 comparable store sales increases
or decreases assume that 2004 and 2003 consisted of 52 weeks.

Comparable store sales for domestic Borders superstores decreased 0.1% in 2004. The comparable store
sales decrease was due primarily to negative comparable store sales in the music category. Partially
offsetting this decrease were strong comparable store sales of movies, primarily the result of increased
sales of DVDs, as well as positive comparable store sales of books, especially in mystery/thrillers, political
books and adult fiction. The impact of price changes on comparable store sales was not significant.

Waldenbooks Specialty Retail’s comparable store sales decreased 2.0% in 2004. The comparable store
sales decrease was primarily due to a decline in store traffic due to the sluggish mall environment and
weaker book bestsellers which impacted Waldenbooks Specialty Retail to a greater degree than Borders
superstores. These factors were partially offset by sales within the seasonal business, which increased
5.1% over the prior year, primarily due to an increased number of locations and to improved execution
of the Company’s seasonal business strategy. The impact of price changes on comparable store sales was
not significant.

Comparable store sales for International Borders superstores increased 4.9% in 2004. The comparable
store sales increase was due to primarily to strong comparable store sales in all markets, especially the
United Kingdom, Australia and Singapore. The impact of price changes on comparable store sales was
not significant.

Other Revenue

Other revenue for the Borders segment includes wholesale revenue earned through sales of merchan-
dise to other retailers, as well as referral fees received from Amazon as part of the Web Site agreements
and income recognized from unredeemed gift cards. Other revenue for the International segment
includes license fees received from Starbucks Coffee Company (U.K.) Limited and income recognized
from unredeemed gift cards. Other revenue in the Waldenbooks Specialty Retail segment primarily
consists of membership income from the Preferred Reader Program, as well as income recognized from
unredeemed gift cards.

Until October 2004, Waldenbooks sold memberships in its Preferred Reader Program, which offered
members discounts on purchases and other benefits. Waldenbooks has phased out its Preferred Reader
Program and is replacing it with other promotional programs in order to maximize long-term sales and
earnings. The Company recognized membership income on a straight-line basis over the 12-month term
of the membership, and categorized the income as ““Other revenue’ in the Company’s consolidated
statements of operations. Discounts on purchases were netted against “‘Sales’” in the Company’s consoli-
dated statements of operations.
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Other revenue decreased $13.7 million, or 20.9%, to $51.9 million in 2004 from $65.6 million in 2003,
primarily due to the change in the Preferred Reader Program, as well as a decrease in the income
recognized from unredeemed gift cards in 2004 compared to 2003. These decreases were partially offset
by increased third party cafe income in the International segment.

Gross Margin

Consolidated gross margin increased $53.4 million, or 5.0%, to $1,119.0 million in 2004 from
$1,065.6 million in 2003. As a percentage of sales, consolidated gross margin remained flat at 28.8% in
2004 and 2003. This primarily resulted from a decrease in gross margin as a percentage of sales in the
Waldenbooks Specialty Retail segment, offset by an increase in gross margin as a percentage of sales for
the Borders and International segments. The decrease in the Waldenbooks Specialty Retail segment was
due to decreased other revenue as a percentage of sales, due to the change in the Preferred Reader
Program and decreased income recognized from unredeemed gift cards. The increase in the Borders
segment was primarily due to decreased bestseller discounts as a percentage of sales, partially offset by
increased distribution costs and decreased income recognized from unredeemed gift cards as a percent-
age of sales. The increase in the International segment resulted from a decrease in merchandise costs,
primarily due to the higher product margins generated by Paperchase and the weakness of the U.S.
dollar, partially offset by increased occupancy and distribution costs as a percentage of sales.

The Company classifies the following items as ““Cost of merchandise sold (includes occupancy)’ on its
consolidated statements of operations: product costs and related discounts, markdowns, freight,
shrinkage, capitalized inventory costs, distribution center costs (including payroll, rent, supplies, depre-
ciation, and other operating expenses), and store occupancy costs (including rent, common area
maintenance, depreciation, repairs and maintenance, taxes, insurance, and others). The Company’s
gross margin may not be comparable to that of other retailers, which may exclude the costs related to
their distribution network from cost of sales and include them in other financial statement lines.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Consolidated selling, general and administrative expenses (‘“SG&A”’) increased $45.3 million, or 5.4%,
to $890.3 million in 2004 from $845.0 million in 2003. As a percentage of sales, it increased 0.1% to
22.9% in 2004 from 22.8% in 2003. This increase primarily resulted from increases in SG&A expenses as
a percentage of sales for the Borders, Waldenbooks Specialty Retail and International segments. Borders
SG&A expenses as percentage of sales increased primarily due to increased advertising and store payroll
expense, partially offset by decreased administrative payroll and operating expenses. The Waldenbooks
Specialty Retail increase was primarily due to increased store payroll expenses and store operating
expenses as a percentage of sales. The International increase in SG&A expenses as a percentage of sales
was primarily the result of increased advertising, administrative payroll and operating expenses and store
operating costs of Paperchase.

The Company classifies the following items as ‘‘Selling, general and administrative expenses’’ on its
consolidated statements of operations: store and administrative payroll, utilities, supplies and equipment
costs, credit card and bank processing fees, bad debt, legal and consulting fees, certain advertising
income and expenses and others.

Asset Impairments and Other Writedowns

In 2004, the Company recorded a $6.2 million writedown related to the impairment of certain long-lived
assets (primarily leasehold improvements, furniture, and fixtures), at certain underperforming Borders,
Waldenbooks Specialty Retail and Books etc. stores. In addition, the Company recorded a $1.0 million
charge related to the closure costs of certain Waldenbooks Specialty Retail stores.

In 2003, the Company recorded a $6.9 million charge related to the impairment of certain long-lived
assets (primarily leasehold improvements, furniture, and fixtures), of certain Borders and Waldenbooks
Specialty Retail stores. In addition, the Company recorded a $0.6 million charge related to the closure
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costs of certain Waldenbooks Specialty Retail stores. The Company also recorded a $4.5 million charge
related to the impairment of certain capitalized technology initiatives, resulting from the Company’s
reevaluation of its technology strategy.

Interest Expense

Consolidated interest expense increased $0.4 million, or 4.6%, to $9.1 million in 2004 from $8.7 million
in 2003. This was primarily due to a higher weighted average interest rate in 2004 as compared to 2003.

Taxes

The effective tax rate differed for the years presented from the federal statutory rate primarily as a result
of state income taxes, partially offset by international operations. The Company’s effective tax rate used
was 36.5% in 2004 compared to 38.0% in 2003. This decrease was primarily due to lower taxes from
international operations.

Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change

In 2003, Borders recorded a $2.1 million charge, comprised of non-cash depreciation costs, resulting
from the implementation of Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 46, ‘“‘Consolida-
tion of Variable Interest Entities” (‘“‘FIN 46°").

Net Income

Due to the factors mentioned above, net income as a percentage of sales increased 0.3%, to 3.4% from
3.1% in 2003, and net income dollars increased to $131.9 million in 2004 from $115.2 million in 2003.

Segment Results

The Company is organized based upon the following operating segments: domestic Borders superstores,
Waldenbooks Specialty Retail stores, International stores (including Borders, Books etc. and Paperchase
stores), and Corporate (consisting of the unallocated portion of interest expense, certain corporate
governance costs and corporate incentive costs). See “Note 17 — Segment Information” in the notes to
consolidated financial statements for further information relating to these segments.

Segment data includes charges allocating all corporate support costs to each segment. Interest income
and expense are allocated to segments based upon the cash flow generated or absorbed by those
segments. The Company utilizes fixed interest rates, approximating the Company’s medium-term bor-
rowing and investing rates, in calculating segment interest income and expense.

Domestic Borders Superstores

2005 2004 2003
(dollar amounts in millions)
Sales . $2,709.5 $2,588.9 $2,470.2
Other revenue . .......co it $ 328 $ 287 $ 337
NEt INCOME . oottt et ettt e et i $ 115.3 $ 112.0 $ 973
Net income as % of sales .. ......... ... ... 4.3% 4.3% 3.9%
Depreciation €XPense « .« .« v vttt ettt $ 845 $ 804 § 795
INEEIESt INCOME . vt et et e e e e e e e e e e et e $ (144) $ (G4 $ 19
Store openings . ... 15 19 41
Store closings . . ... 4 2 —
SEOTE COUNT .. vttt ettt et e e e e e e et 473 462 445



Domestic Borders Superstores — Comparison of 2005 to 2004
Sales

Domestic Borders superstore sales increased $120.6 million, or 4.7%, to $2,709.5 million in 2005 from
$2,588.9 million in 2004. This increase was comprised of non-comparable sales of $92.1 million, associ-
ated with 2005 and 2004 store openings and the calendar change, which resulted in 2005 consisting of
53 weeks while 2004 consisted of 52 weeks, and increased comparable store sales of $28.5 million.

Other Revenue

Borders’ other revenue increased $4.1 million, or 14.3%, to $32.8 million in 2005 from $28.7 million in
2004. This was primarily due to wholesale revenue earned through the franchise agreement with Berjaya
in 2005, as well as increased income recognized from unredeemed gift cards.

Gross Margin

Gross margin as a percentage of sales decreased approximately 0.2%, to 29.8% in 2005 from 30.0% in
2004. This decrease was due to increased promotional discounts, distribution and freight costs of 0.3% as
a percentage of sales, partially offset by increased other revenue as a percentage of sales of 0.1%, due to
the franchise agreement with Berjaya in 2005, as well as increased income recognized from unredeemed
gift cards. The overall mix of merchandise sold by Borders stores did not significantly change, or affect
margin rates significantly, in 2005 as compared to 2004.

Gross margin dollars increased $33.3 million, or 4.3%, to $808.8 million in 2005 from $775.5 million in
2004, primarily due to new store openings, partially offset by the decrease in gross margin percentage
noted above.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

SG&A as a percentage of sales increased 0.3%, to 23.1% in 2005 from 22.8% in 2004, primarily due to
increased corporate payroll and store operating expenses of 0.6% as a percentage of sales, due to cost
increases to support strategic initiatives. Partially offsetting these increases were decreased advertising
expense of 0.1% as a percentage of sales, primarily due to reduced newsprint advertising, and decreased
store payroll expenses of 0.2% as a percentage of sales, resulting from disciplined cost controls at the
store level.

SG&A dollars increased $37.2 million, or 6.3%, to $627.3 million in 2005 from $590.1 million in 2004,
primarily due to new store openings and the increased store payroll and operating expenses required.

Asset Impairments and Other Writedowns

In 2005, the Company recorded a $2.1 million writedown related to the impairment of assets at certain
underperforming Borders stores. In addition, the Company recorded a charge of $1.0 million related to
the closure costs of certain Borders stores.

In 2004, the Company recorded a $4.5 million writedown related to the impairment of assets at certain
underperforming Borders stores.

Depreciation

Depreciation expense increased $4.1 million, or 5.1%, to $84.5 million in 2005 from $80.4 million in
2004. This was primarily the result of increased depreciation expense recognized on new and remodeled
stores’ capital expenditures, as well as accelerated depreciation related to store remodels.
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Interest Income

Interest income increased $9.0 million, or 166.7%, to $14.4 million in 2005 from $5.4 million in 2004.
This was due to the generation of increased cash flow, which reduced average borrowing levels at fixed
internal interest rates.

Net Income

Due to the factors mentioned above, net income as a percentage of sales remained flat at 4.3% in 2005
and 2004, and net income dollars increased $3.3 million, or 2.9%, to $115.3 million in 2005 from
$112.0 million in 2004.

Domestic Borders Superstores — Comparison of 2004 to 2003
Sales

Domestic Borders superstore sales increased $118.7 million, or 4.8%, to $2,588.9 million in 2004 from
$2,470.2 million in 2003. This increase was comprised of non-comparable sales primarily associated with
2004 and 2003 store openings of $120.9 million, partially offset by decreased comparable store sales of
$2.2 million.

Other Revenue

Borders’ other revenue decreased $5.0 million, or 14.8%, to $28.7 million in 2004 from $33.7 million in
2003. This was primarily due to decreased income recognized from unredeemed gift cards.

Gross Margin

Gross margin as a percentage of sales increased approximately 0.2%, to 30.0% in 2004 from 29.8% in
2003, primarily due to decreased markdowns of 0.4% as a percentage of sales, resulting from higher
bestseller discounts in 2003. Partially offsetting the decrease in markdowns are increased distribution
costs of 0.1% as a percentage of sales, as well as decreased other revenue of 0.1% as a percentage of sales,
due to decreased income recognized from unredeemed gift cards. The overall mix of merchandise sold
by Borders stores did not significantly change, or affect margin rates significantly, in 2004 as compared
to 2003.

Gross margin dollars increased $39.4 million, or 5.4%, to $775.5 million in 2004 from $736.1 million in
2003, primarily due to new store openings and the increase in gross margin percentage noted above.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

SG&A as a percentage of sales increased 0.1%, to 22.8% in 2004 from 22.7% in 2003, primarily as a result
of an increase in advertising expenses of 0.3% as a percentage of sales and increased store payroll
expenses of 0.2% as a percentage of sales. These factors were partially offset by a decrease in corporate
payroll administrative expenses of 0.4% as a percentage of sales due to disciplined cost controls at the
corporate level. Store operating costs remained flat as a percentage of sales.

SG&A dollars increased $28.5 million, or 5.1%, to $590.1 million in 2004 from $561.6 million in 2003,
primarily due to new store openings and the increased store payroll and operating expenses required.
Asset Impairments and Other Writedowns

In 2004, the Company recorded a $4.5 million writedown related to the impairment of assets at certain
underperforming Borders stores.

In 2003, the Company recorded a $6.6 million writedown related to the impairment of assets at certain
underperforming Borders stores. Borders also incurred a $3.0 million writedown related to the impair-
ment of certain capitalized technology initiatives.
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Depreciation

Depreciation expense increased $0.9 million, or 1.1%, to $80.4 million in 2004 from $79.5 million in
2003. This was primarily the result of increased depreciation expense recognized on new and remodeled
stores’ capital expenditures, as well as accelerated depreciation related to store remodels.

Interest Income

Interest income increased $3.5 million, to $5.4 million in 2004 from $1.9 million in 2003. This was due to
the generation of increased cash flow, which reduced average borrowing levels at fixed internal interest
rates.

Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change

In 2003, Borders recorded a $2.1 million charge, comprised of non-cash depreciation costs, resulting
from the implementation of FIN 46.

Net Income

Due to the factors mentioned above, net income as a percentage of sales increased to 4.3% in 2004 from
3.9% in 2003, and net income dollars increased $14.7 million, or 15.1%, to $112.0 million in 2004 from
$97.3 million in 2003.

Effect of Terrorist Attacks on September 11, 2001

As a result of the terrorist attacks on September 11, 2001, a Borders store that operated in the World
Trade Center in New York City was destroyed. The loss of that store’s sales and net income was not
material to the consolidated 2004, 2003 or 2002 results as a whole. The Company was insured for the
replacement value of the assets destroyed at the store and up to 24 months of lost income from business
interruption coverage and recognized a total recovery of $19.9 million. The Company does not expect to
recover additional insurance amounts relating to this incident.

During 2004, the Company recognized as income its final insurance reimbursement of $1.2 million
related to the September 11, 2001 loss. Of this, $0.9 million was categorized as an offset to ‘‘Selling,
general and administrative expenses.”” This amount primarily represented the excess of lost assets’
replacement value over their net book value. It is the Company’s policy to record gains and losses on
asset disposals as a part of ““Selling, general and administrative expenses.”’” The remaining $0.3 million
was related to pre-opening expenses incurred in the opening of replacement stores in New York City.
This was categorized as an offset to ‘‘Pre-opening expense’” on the consolidated statements of
operations.

During 2003, the Company recognized a $2.8 million gain from insurance proceeds related to the
terrorist attacks. Of this, $0.7 million represented business interruption proceeds for 2003. In addition,
$1.8 million primarily represented the excess of lost assets’ replacement value over their net book value.
The remaining $0.3 million was related to pre-opening expenses incurred in the opening of replacement
stores in New York City.
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Waldenbooks Specialty Retail

(dollar amounts in millions) 2005 2004 2003
Sales L $744.8 $779.9 $820.9
Other revenue . . . ..ottt $ 4.8 $ 174 $ 27.8
Net INCOME .« o v v vttt e e e e e e e e e e s $ 28.2 $ 415 $ 48.8
Net income as % of sales . ...... ... 3.8% 5.3% 5.9%
Depreciation €XPENSE . . . .. ... uwuuuuet $ 18.2 $ 16.7 $ 18.5
INEErest INCOMIE . .« v vt et et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ (43.8) $(42.2) $(38.8)
Store Openings .. ... 23 15 12
Store closings . ... ... 50 43 74
SEOTE COUNT . o v ettt et et et e e e e e e e e e et 678 705 733

Waldenbooks Specialty Retail — Comparison of 2005 to 2004
Sales

Waldenbooks Specialty Retail sales decreased $35.1 million, or 4.5%, to $744.8 million in 2005 from
$779.9 million in 2004. This decrease was comprised of decreased comparable store sales of $14.0 million
and decreased non-comparable sales of $21.1 million, associated with 2005 and 2004 store closings,
partially offset by the calendar change, which resulted in 2005 consisting of 53 weeks while 2004
consisted of 52 weeks.

Other Revenue

Waldenbooks Specialty Retail other revenue decreased $12.6 million, or 72.4%, to $4.8 million in 2005
from $17.4 million in 2004. This was primarily due to the change in the Preferred Reader Program.

Gross Margin

Gross margin as a percentage of sales decreased 1.6%, to 26.1% in 2005 from 27.7% in 2004. This was
due to a 1.6% decrease in other revenue as a percentage of sales, due to the change in the Preferred
Reader Program.

Gross margin dollars decreased $21.2 million, or 9.8%, to $194.6 million in 2005 from $215.8 million in
2004, primarily due to store closures, decreased comparable store sales and the decrease in gross margin
percentage noted above.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

SG&A as a percentage of sales increased 1.4%, to 25.5% in 2005 from 24.1% in 2004, primarily due to
increased corporate payroll and operating expenses of 1.0% as a percentage of sales, due to the de-
leveraging of fixed costs resulting from comparable store sales declines and cost increases to support
strategic initiatives. Also contributing to the increase in SG&A as a percentage of sales is increased store
payroll and other operating expenses of 0.4% as a percentage of sales, due to sales decreasing at a faster
rate than payroll and other operating expenses.

SG&A dollars increased $1.5 million, or 0.8%, to $189.8 million in 2005 from $188.3 million in 2004,
primarily due to increased corporate payroll and operating cost increases to support strategic initiatives,
partially offset by decreased store payroll costs due to store closings.
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Asset Impairments and Other Writedowns

Waldenbooks Specialty Retail incurred asset impairment charges of $0.5 million and $0.4 million related
to underperforming Waldenbooks Specialty Retail stores in 2005 and 2004, respectively. In addition, the
Company recorded charges of $1.3 million and $1.0 million related to the closure costs of certain
Waldenbooks Specialty Retail stores in 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Depreciation

Depreciation expense increased $1.5 million, or 9.0%, to $18.2 million in 2005 from $16.7 million in
2004. This was primarily due to increased depreciation expense recognized on new airport and outlet
stores, as well as on capital additions related to the conversion of select Waldenbooks stores to Borders
Express stores.

Interest Income

Interest income increased $1.6 million, or 3.8%, to $43.8 million in 2005 from $42.2 million in 2004.
This was the result of Waldenbooks Specialty Retail’s continued positive cash flow at fixed internal
interest rates.

Net Income

Due to the factors mentioned above, net income as a percentage of sales decreased to 3.8% in 2005 from
5.3% in 2004, while net income dollars decreased $13.3 million, or 32.0%, to $28.2 million in 2005 from
$41.5 million in 2004.

Waldenbooks Specialty Retail — Comparison of 2004 to 2003
Sales

Waldenbooks Specialty Retail sales decreased $41.0 million, or 5.0%, to $779.9 million in 2004 from
$820.9 million in 2003. This decrease was comprised of decreased comparable store sales of $12.8 million
and decreased non-comparable sales associated with 2004 and 2003 store closings of $28.2 million.

Other Revenue

Waldenbooks Specialty Retail other revenue decreased $10.4 million, or 37.4%, to $17.4 million in 2004
from $27.8 million in 2003. This was primarily due to the change in the Preferred Reader Program and
decreased income recognized from unredeemed gift cards.

Gross Margin

Gross margin as a percentage of sales decreased 1.2%, to 27.7% in 2004 from 28.9% in 2003. This was
primarily due to a 1.2% decrease in other revenue as a percentage of sales, due to the change in the
Preferred Reader Program and decreased income recognized from unredeemed gift cards, as well as an
increase in freight costs of 0.1% as a percentage of sales. These factors were partially offset by a decrease
in markdowns of 0.1%, due to higher bestseller discounts in 2003.

Gross margin dollars decreased $21.3 million, or 9.0%, to $215.8 million in 2004 from $237.1 million in
2003, primarily due to store closures, decreased comparable store sales and the decrease in gross margin
percentage noted above.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

SG&A as a percentage of sales increased 0.5%, to 24.1% in 2004 from 23.6% in 2003, primarily resulting
from a 0.5% increase in store payroll and other operating expenses as a percentage of sales, due to sales
decreasing at a faster rate than payroll and other operating expenses.
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SG&A dollars decreased $5.9 million, or 3.0%, to $188.3 million in 2004 from $194.2 million in 2003,
primarily due to store closings.

Asset Impairments and Other Writedowns

In 2004, Waldenbooks Specialty Retail incurred $0.4 million of asset impairment charges related to
underperforming Waldenbooks Specialty Retail stores. In addition, the Company recorded a charge of
$1.0 million related to the closure costs of certain Waldenbooks Specialty Retail stores.

In 2003, Waldenbooks Specialty Retail incurred $0.3 million of asset impairment charges related to
underperforming Waldenbooks Specialty Retail stores. In addition, the Company recorded a charge of
$0.6 million related to the closure costs of certain Waldenbooks Specialty Retail stores. Waldenbooks
Specialty Retail also incurred a $1.4 million writedown related to the impairment of certain capitalized
technology initiatives.

Depreciation

Depreciation expense decreased $1.8 million, or 9.7%, to $16.7 million in 2004 from $18.5 million in
2003. This was primarily due to a lower fixed asset base resulting from asset impairments and store
closings.

Interest Income

Interest income increased $3.4 million, or 8.8%, to $42.2 million in 2004 from $38.8 million in 2003.
This was the result of Waldenbooks Specialty Retail’s continued positive cash flow at fixed internal
interest rates.

Net Income

Due to the factors mentioned above, net income as a percentage of sales decreased to 5.3% in 2004 from
5.9% in 2003, while net income dollars decreased $7.3 million, or 15.0%, to $41.5 million in 2004 from
$48.8 million in 2003.

International

(dollar amounts in millions) 2005 2004 2003
Sales .o, $576.4  $510.7  $407.5
Other revenue . . . oot $109 $ 58 $ 4.1
Net income (10SS) ... oot $ 7.8 $ 56 $ (1.3
Net income (loss) as % of sales . ....... ... ... .. ... .. .. ... ....... (1.4)% 1.1% (0.3)%
Depreciation €XPense . ... .. .oouuut it $ 188 $ 158 $ 133
INEErESt EXPENSE. « o v v vttt ettt e e et $ 216 $19.1 $ 19.0
Superstores:

StOre OPENINgs ... .ottt 13 5 7

SEOTE COUNT « v v vt ettt e e e e et e e e e e e et et 55 42 37
Books etc.:

StOre OPENINgs ... .ottt — 1 1

Store closings ... ... 2 2 2

SEOTE COUNE . v vttt ettt et e e e e et ettt 33 35 36
Paperchase stand-alone stores:

Stores acquired .. ... ... — 11

Store OPEnings ... ...ttt 4 3

SEOTE COUNE . . vttt et et e e e e e e e e e e e e et 18 14



International — Comparison of 2005 to 2004
Sales

International sales increased $65.7 million, or 12.9%, to $576.4 million in 2005 from $510.7 million in
2004, primarily resulting from new superstore openings, comparable store sales increases of 0.4%, and
the acquisition of Paperchase. In 2005, the Company opened 13 International superstores. Partially
offsetting these increases were unfavorable exchange rates, which decreased the sales growth percentage
1.5%, or $7.7 million.

Other Revenue

Other revenue increased $5.1 million, or 87.9%, to $10.9 million in 2005 from $5.8 million in 2004. This
increase was primarily due to wholesale revenue earned through the franchise agreement with Berjaya in
2005 and increased third party cafe income.

Gross Margin

Gross margin as a percentage of sales decreased 1.4%, to 23.6% in 2005 from 25.0% in 2004, primarily
the result of increased occupancy costs of 2.5% as a percentage of sales, due primarily to new store
openings, landlord-imposed rent adjustments and the correction of prior years’ straight-line rent calcula-
tion. Excluding the adjustment of straight-line rent, occupancy costs would have increased by 2.0% as a
percentage of sales. Also contributing to the decrease in gross margin as a percentage of sales was
increased distribution and other costs of 0.1% as a percentage of sales, largely due to the higher supply
chain costs of Paperchase. Partially offsetting these items was increased other revenue of 0.8% as a
percentage of sales, due to the franchise agreement with Berjaya in 2005 and increased third party cafe
income. In addition, product costs decreased 0.4% as a percentage of sales. This was primarily due to the
acquisition of Paperchase, which offers merchandise with higher margins than the International super-
stores’ core products. The overall mix of book, music, movie, cafe, and gifts and stationery merchandise
of the International segment changed slightly, due to the acquisition and consolidation of Paperchase,
which occurred near the end of the second quarter of 2004.

Gross margin dollars increased $8.6 million, or 6.7%, to $136.3 million in 2005 from $127.7 million in
2004. The increase is due to new superstore openings and the acquisition of Paperchase, partially offset
by the correction of prior years’ straight-line rent calculation and the decline in the gross margin rate.
Excluding the impact of the translation of foreign currencies to U.S. dollars, gross margin dollars would
have increased by an additional $2.1 million.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

SG&A as a percentage of sales increased approximately 2.1%, to 21.8% in 2005 from 19.7% in 2004. This
was primarily the result of increases, as a percentage of sales, in store payroll of 1.0%, store operating
expenses of 0.8%, and corporate payroll of 0.5%, all of which are due primarily to the acquisition of
Paperchase, which occurred near the end of the second quarter of 2004. These increases were partially
offset by decreased advertising costs of 0.2% as a percentage of sales.

SG&A dollars increased $24.6 million, or 24.4%, to $125.4 million in 2005 from $100.8 million in 2004.
The increase is primarily due to new superstore openings and the increased store payroll and operating
expenses required, and the acquisition of Paperchase. Excluding the impact of the translation of foreign
currencies to U.S. dollars, SG&A dollars would have increased by an additional $0.3 million.

Asset Impairments and Other Writedowns

The International segment incurred $1.7 million and $1.3 million of asset impairment charges related to
underperforming Books etc. stores in 2005 and 2004, respectively.
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Depreciation

Depreciation expense increased $3.0 million, or 19.0%, to $18.8 million in 2005 from $15.8 million in
2004. This was primarily due to depreciation expense recognized on new stores’ capital expenditures.

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased $2.5 million, or 13.1%, to $21.6 million in 2005 from $19.1 million in 2004.
This was primarily due to increased borrowings used to fund new stores’ capital expenditures.

Net Income (Loss)

Due to the factors mentioned above, net loss as a percentage of sales was 1.4% in 2005 compared to
income of 1.1% in 2004, and net income dollars decreased $13.4 million, to a loss of $7.8 million in 2005
from income of $5.6 million in 2004.

Exchange rates positively impacted the comparison of 2005 net loss to 2004 net income by approximately
$1.0 million, including foreign currency transaction gains of $2.1 million in 2005 and $0.2 million in
2004.

International — Comparison of 2004 to 2003
Sales

International sales increased $103.2 million, or 25.3%, to $510.7 million in 2004 from $407.5 million in
2003, primarily resulting from new superstore openings, comparable store sales increases and the
acquisition of Paperchase. In 2004, the Company opened five International superstores and one Books
etc. store in the United Kingdom. In addition, 10.4% of the sales growth percentage, or $42.4 million,
was related to favorable exchange rates.

Other Revenue

Other revenue increased $1.7 million, or 41.5%, to $5.8 million in 2004 from $4.1 million in 2003. This
increase was primarily due to increased third party cafe income.

Gross Margin

Gross margin as a percentage of sales increased 2.3%, to 25.0% in 2004 from 22.7% in 2003, primarily
the result of a decrease of 2.0% in merchandise costs as a percentage of sales. This was primarily due to
the acquisition of Paperchase, which offers merchandise with higher margins than the International
superstores’ core products. The weakness of the U.S. dollar also contributed to the improvement in
product costs, primarily benefiting the Company’s operations in countries with a relatively high percent-
age of U.S.-sourced merchandise. Also contributing to the increase in the gross margin percentage was
an increase as a percentage of sales of 0.1% in third party cafe income and improvements of 0.5% in
product markdowns as a percentage of sales, resulting from improved vendor terms, largely in the
Company’s Asia Pacific stores. Partially offsetting these factors were increased occupancy costs of 0.2% as
a percentage of sales, due to new store openings and landlord-imposed rent adjustments, and increased
distribution costs of 0.1% as a percentage of sales, largely due to the higher supply chain costs of
Paperchase. The overall mix of book, music, movie, cafe, and gifts and stationery merchandise of the
International segment changed slightly, due to the acquisition and consolidation of Paperchase.

Gross margin dollars increased $35.3 million, or 38.2%, to $127.7 million in 2004 from $92.4 million in
2003. Of this increase, $8.7 million is the result of translation of foreign currencies to U.S. dollars. The
remainder of the increase is due to new superstore openings and the improved gross margin rate.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

SG&A as a percentage of sales increased approximately 0.8%, to 19.7% in 2004 from 18.9% in 2003. This
was primarily the result of increases as a percentage of sales in advertising expenses of 0.3%, administra-
tive payroll of 0.3%, store operating expenses of 0.1% and administrative expenses of 0.1%, all of which
are due to the acquisition of Paperchase.

SG&A dollars increased $23.9 million, or 31.1%, to $100.8 million in 2004 from $76.9 million in 2003. Of
this increase, $7.5 million is the result of translation of foreign currencies to U.S. dollars. The remainder
of the increase is primarily due to new superstore openings, the acquisition of Paperchase and the
increased store payroll and operating expenses required.

Asset Impairments and Other Writedowns

In 2004, the International segment incurred $1.3 million of asset impairment charges related to un-
derperforming Books etc. stores.

In 2003, the International segment incurred a $0.1 million writedown related to the impairment of
certain capitalized technology initiatives.

Depreciation

Depreciation expense increased $2.5 million, or 18.8%, to $15.8 million in 2004 from $13.3 million in
2003. This was primarily due to depreciation expense recognized on new stores’ capital expenditures.
Interest Expense

Interest expense increased $0.1 million, or 0.5%, to $19.1 million in 2004 from $19.0 million in 2003.
This was a result of comparable average borrowing levels at fixed internal interest rates as a result of
increased cash flow generation in the United Kingdom.

Net Income

Due to the factors mentioned above, net income as a percentage of sales was 1.1% in 2004 as compared
to a loss of 0.3% in 2003, and net income dollars increased $6.9 million to $5.6 million in 2004 from a
loss of $1.8 million in 2003.

Exchange rates positively impacted the comparison of 2004 net income to 2003 net loss by approximately
$0.5 million, including foreign currency transaction gains/(losses) of $0.2 million in 2004 and $(0.4)
million in 2003.

Corporate
2005 2004 2003
(dollar amounts in millions)
TNEEIESt EXPENSE . « « v vttt ettt ettt ettt et $509 $37.6 $304
Net 108S . vt $(34.7) $(27.2) $(29.6)

The Corporate segment includes interest expense related to corporate activities, various corporate
governance costs and corporate incentive costs.

Corporate — Comparison of 2005 to 2004

Net loss dollars increased $7.5 million, or 27.6%, to $34.7 million in 2005 from $27.2 million in 2004.
This was primarily due to increased interest expense for this segment resulting from increased borrow-
ings to fund corporate stock repurchases in 2005. Interest expense represents corporate-level interest
costs not charged to the Company’s other segments.
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Corporate — Comparison of 2004 to 2003

Net loss dollars decreased $2.4 million, or 8.1%, to $27.2 million in 2004 from $29.6 million in 2003.
This was primarily due to the settlement of the California overtime litigation, a receivable writedown and
higher corporate incentive payments in 2003. Interest expense represents corporate-level interest costs
not charged to the Company’s operating segments resulting primarily from the Company’s share repur-
chase program.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company’s principal capital requirements are to fund the opening of new stores, the refurbishment
of existing stores, a new full service distribution center, and continued investment in new corporate
information technology systems. Additional capital requirements include the maintenance of existing
stores, distribution centers, and management information systems, as well as shareholder returns in the
form of share repurchases and dividends.

Net cash provided by operations was $169.9 million, $226.8 million, and $238.3 million in 2005, 2004,
and 2003, respectively. The current year operating cash inflows primarily reflect operating results net of
non-cash charges for depreciation, asset impairments and other writedowns and a loss on disposal of
assets related to the remodel program, as well as an increase in accounts payable, taxes payable and other
long-term liabilities. Operating cash outflows for the period resulted from increases in inventories,
prepaid expenses, accounts receivable, accrued payroll and other liabilities and other long-term assets.
Also affecting operating cash was an adjustment to net income resulting from a gain on the sale of
investments, as well as a non-cash increase in deferred income taxes. The most significant cash outflow
was related to the increase in inventory, which was partially offset by an increase in accounts payable.
The increase in inventories primarily resulted from new store growth.

Net cash used for investing in 2005 was $91.1 million, which primarily funded capital expenditures for
new stores, the refurbishment of existing stores, new corporate information technology systems and
maintenance of existing stores, distribution centers and management information systems. These ex-
penditures were offset by proceeds from the Company’s sale of investments of $105.2 million, which
primarily consisted of auction rate securities. Net cash used for investing in 2004 was $91.8 million, which
primarily funded capital expenditures for new stores, new corporate information technology systems, the
acquisition of Paperchase and the refurbishment maintenance of existing stores, distribution centers and
management information systems. In addition, the Company invested $95.4 million, and sold $118.0 mil-
lion, of auction rate securities. Net cash used for investing in 2003 was $231.8 million, which primarily
funded capital expenditures for new stores, the refurbishment and maintenance of existing stores,
distribution centers and management information systems, as well as investments of $118.0 million in
auction rate securities.

Capital expenditures in 2005 were $196.3 million, which reflects the opening of 28 new superstores and
23 new Waldenbooks Specialty Retail stores, including 5 new airport stores and 16 new outlet stores, as
well as the remodeling of 100 domestic superstores and the conversion of 98 Waldenbooks stores to
Borders Express. Additional 2005 capital spending reflected continued investment in new buying and
merchandising systems, partial spending on a new distribution center opening in 2006 and maintenance
spending for new stores, distribution centers and management information systems. Capital expendi-
tures in 2004 were $115.5 million, which reflects the opening of 24 new superstores and 15 new
Waldenbooks Specialty Retail stores, including two new airport stores and ten new outlet stores, as well as
the remodeling of 33 domestic superstores and the conversion of 37 Waldenbooks stores to Borders
Express. Additional 2004 capital spending reflected continued investment in new buying and merchan-
dising systems and maintenance spending for new stores, distribution centers and management informa-
tion systems. Capital expenditures in 2003 were $110.9 million, and reflect the opening of 48 new
superstores and 12 new Waldenbooks Specialty Retail stores, including four new airport stores.

Net cash used for investing in 2004 was partially offset by the proceeds received from the sale-leaseback
of a Company-owned store and office building in the United Kingdom. The proceeds from the sale
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totaled $32.3 million, and a deferred gain of $3.5 million was recorded on the consolidated balance
sheets in ““Other long-term liabilities.”” The gain is being amortized over the 20 year term of the
operating lease.

In 2003, the Company acquired substantially all assets used in or related to the operations of two stores
in Louisville, Kentucky from Hawley-Cooke Booksellers, Inc. The acquisition was not material to the
consolidated statements of operations, the consolidated balance sheets, or the consolidated statements
of cash flows of the Company.

Net cash used for financing was $241.0 million in 2005, resulting primarily from the Company’s repur-
chase of common stock of $265.9 million and the payment of cash dividends on shares of the Company’s
common stock of $25.5 million, partially offset by proceeds of $27.6 million from the exercise of
employee stock options and funding from the credit facility of $23.3 million. Net cash used for financing
was $150.8 million in 2004, resulting primarily from the Company’s repurchase of common stock of
$177.3 million and the payment of cash dividends on shares of the Company’s common stock of
$25.1 million, partially offset by proceeds of $44.8 million from the exercise of employee stock options.
Net cash used for financing was $15.8 million in 2003, resulting primarily from the Company’s repur-
chase of common stock of $44.0 million, which was partially offset by proceeds of $27.4 million from the
exercise of employee stock options.

The Company expects capital expenditures to be approximately $200.0 million in 2006, resulting
primarily from new superstore openings and continuation of the store remodel program, through which
the Company plans to complete major remodels of approximately 100 domestic Borders superstore
locations and convert approximately 15 Waldenbooks stores to Borders Express. In addition, capital
expenditures will result from International store openings, the new distribution center, continued
investment in new buying, merchandising and warehouse management systems and maintenance spend-
ing for new stores, distribution centers and management information systems. The Company currently
plans to open approximately 35 domestic Borders superstores and 12 to 14 International stores in 2006.
Average cash requirements for the opening of a prototype Borders Books and Music superstore are
$2.4 million, representing capital expenditures of $1.2 million, inventory requirements (net of related
accounts payable) of $1.0 million, and $0.2 million of pre-opening costs. Average cash requirements to
open a new airport or outlet mall store range from $0.3 million to $0.8 million, depending on the size
and format of the store. Average cash requirements for a major remodel of a Borders superstore are
between $0.1 million and $0.5 million, and average cash requirements for a Borders Express conversion
are less than $0.1 million. The Company plans to lease new store locations predominantly under
operating leases.

The Company plans to execute its expansion plans for Borders superstores and other strategic initiatives
principally with funds generated from operations and financing through the Credit Agreement, dis-
cussed below. The Company believes funds generated from operations and borrowings under the Credit
Agreement and from other sources, as necessary, will be sufficient to fund its anticipated capital
requirements for the next several years.

In January 2006, the Board of Directors authorized $250.0 million of potential share repurchases. The
Company currently has remaining authorization to repurchase approximately $246.1 million. During
2005, 2004, and 2003, $265.9 million, $177.3 million, and $44.0 million of common stock was repur-
chased, respectively. The Company plans to continue the repurchase of its common stock throughout
fiscal 2006, subject to the Company’s share price and capital needs and availability.

During 2004 and 2005, the Company paid a regular quarterly dividend, and intends to pay regular
quarterly cash dividends, subject to Board approval, going forward. In December 2005, the Board of
Directors increased the quarterly dividend by 11.1% to $0.10 per share. The declaration and payment of
dividends, if any, is subject to the discretion of the Board and to certain limitations under the Michigan
Business Corporation Act. In addition, the Company’s ability to pay dividends is restricted by certain
agreements to which the Company is a party.
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The Company has a Multicurrency Revolving Credit Agreement (the ““Credit Agreement’’), which was
amended in October 2005 and will expire in October 2010. The Credit Agreement provides for borrow-
ings of up to $700.0 million secured by eligible inventory and accounts receivable and related assets.
Borrowings under the Credit Agreement are limited to a specified percentage of eligible inventories and
accounts receivable and bear interest at a variable base rate plus an increment or LIBOR plus an
increment at the Company’s option. The Credit Agreement (i) includes a fixed charge coverage ratio
requirement of 1.1 to 1 that is applicable only if outstanding borrowings under the facility exceed 90% of
permitted borrowings thereunder, (ii) contains covenants that limit, among other things, the Company’s
ability to incur indebtedness, grant liens, make investments, consolidate or merge or dispose of assets,
(iii) prohibits dividend payments and share repurchases that would result in borrowings under the
facility exceeding 90% of permitted borrowings thereunder, and (iv) contains default provisions that are
typical for this type of financing, including a cross default provision relating to other indebtedness of
more than $25.0 million. As of January 28, 2006 the Company was in compliance with all covenants
contained within this agreement. The Company had borrowings outstanding under the Credit Agree-
ment (or a prior agreement) of $153.6 million at January 28, 2006 and $131.7 million at January 23,
2005.

On July 30, 2002, the Company issued $50.0 million of senior guaranteed notes (the ‘““Notes”) due
July 30, 2006 and bearing interest at 6.31% (payable semi-annually). The proceeds of the sale of the
Notes have been used to refinance existing indebtedness of the Company and its subsidiaries and for
general corporate purposes. The note purchase agreement relating to the Notes contains covenants
which limit, among other things, the Company’s ability to incur indebtedness, grant liens, make invest-
ments, engage in any merger or consolidation, dispose of assets or change the nature of its business, and
requires the Company to meet certain financial measures regarding net worth, total debt coverage and
fixed charge coverage. In July 2004, the note purchase agreement was amended to permit the amend-
ment to the Credit Agreement described above and to provide for a parity lien to secure the Notes on
the same collateral as secures borrowings under the Credit Agreement. The Company plans to repay the
Notes with funds from the Credit Agreement. As of January 28, 2006 the Company was in compliance
with all covenants contained within this agreement.

In August 2003, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement which effectively converted
the fixed interest rate on the Company’s Notes to a variable rate based on LIBOR. In accordance with
the provisions of FAS 133, the Company designated this swap agreement as a fair market value hedge.
The notional amount of the swap agreement is $50.0 million, and the agreement is set to expire
concurrently with the due date of the Notes.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company had two lease financing facilities (the ‘‘Original Lease Facility’”” and the ‘“New Lease
Facility,” collectively, the ‘‘Lease Financing Facilities’’) to finance new stores and other property owned
by unaffiliated entities and leased to the Company or its subsidiaries. At January 25, 2004, borrowings
associated with two properties were outstanding. Pursuant to the requirements of FIN 46, the Company
was the primary beneficiary of the two variable interest entities (‘“VIEs’’) that owned the two properties.
As a result, the Company began consolidating these VIEs in the quarter ending January 25, 2004.
Amounts relating to the consolidation of these VIEs were treated as non-cash items on the consolidated
statements of cash flows.

In July 2004, the Company repaid all amounts outstanding under the Lease Financing Facilities (totaling
$13.8 million) on behalf of the two borrowing VIEs. In conjunction with this transaction, the Lease
Financing Facilities were terminated. The Company has recorded this debt repayment as a prepayment
of a portion of the rent expense for occupancy through 2024, and has classified the current portion as a
component of ‘““Accounts receivable and other current assets,” and the non-current portion as a
component of “‘Other assets’ on the consolidated balance sheets at January 28, 2006.
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Additionally, the Company deconsolidated these VIEs in July 2004 pursuant to the provisions of FIN 46.
The deconsolidation of the two VIEs resulted in a reduction of land, property and equipment, net of
accumulated depreciation, of $12.5 million, short-term borrowings of $13.8 million, and minority inter-
est of $1.3 million. The Company also recorded an after-tax gain of $1.7 million as a result of the
deconsolidation of these VIEs. These amounts have been treated as non-cash items on the consolidated
statements of cash flows.

Separately, the Company is the primary beneficiary of two VIEs due to the Company’s guarantee of the
debt of these entities. As a result, the Company began consolidating these VIEs in the quarter ending
January 25, 2004, and has recorded property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation, of
$5.3 million, long-term debt (including current portion) of $5.6 million, and minority interest of
$0.3 million at January 28, 2006, and has recorded property and equipment, net of accumulated
depreciation, of $5.3 million, long-term debt of $5.7 million, and minority interest of $0.4 million at
January 23, 2005. These amounts have been treated as non-cash items on the consolidated statements of
cash flows.

Significant Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes the Company’s significant contractual obligations, excluding interest
expense:

Fiscal Year
2011 and
(dollars in millions) 2006 2007-2008 2009-2010 Thereafter Total
Credit Agreement borrowings ............ $153.6 $ — $ — $ — $ 1536
Capital lease obligations................. 0.5 — — — 0.5
Operating lease obligations .............. 363.8 695.1 618.8 2,209.6 3,887.3
Senior guaranteed notes ... .............. 50.0 — — — 50.0
Debt of consolidated VIEs............... 0.2 0.4 0.4 4.6 5.6
Other borrowings. ..................... 3.1 — — — 3.1
Total ..o $571.2 $695.5 $619.2  $2,214.2  $4,100.1

Seasonality

The Company’s business is highly seasonal, with sales significantly higher and substantially all operating
income realized during the fourth quarter, which includes the holiday selling season.

Fiscal 2005 Quarter Ended

(dollars in millions) April July October January
Sales .. $847.2  $891.6  $837.2  $1,454.7
Operating income (loss) .. ..., (6.2) 5.4 (19.3) 193.5
% of full year:
Sales .o 21.0% 22.1% 20.8% 36.1%
Operating income (loss) ...................... ... ... (3.6) 3.1 (11.1) 111.6
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Fiscal 2004 Quarter Ended

(dollars in millions) April July October January
Sales .. $830.8  $847.1 $833.3  $1,368.3
Operating income (loss) .............. ... ... .. ..., 5.6 15.0 0.4 195.7
% of full year:
Sales ..ot 21.4%  21.8%  21.5% 35.3%
Operating income (loss) ............. ... 2.6 6.9 0.2 90.3
Fiscal 2003 Quarter Ended
(doliars in millions) April July  October January
Sales .. $751.4  $826.9 $807.9 $13124
Operating income (loss) .............. .. . ... .. ..., (8.0) 8.2 0.9 197.0
% of full year:
Sales ..o 20.3%  22.4%  21.8% 35.5%
Operating income (loss) ........... ... o .. (4.0) 4.1 0.5 99.4

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

In the ordinary course of business, the Company has made a number of estimates and assumptions
relating to the reporting of results of operations and financial condition in the preparation of its
financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.
Actual results could differ from those estimates under different assumptions and conditions. The
Company believes that the following discussion addresses the Company’s most critical accounting poli-
cies and estimates.

Asset Impairments

The carrying value of long-lived assets is evaluated whenever changes in circumstances indicate the
carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. In performing such reviews for recoverability,
the Company compares the expected cash flows to the carrying value of long-lived assets for the
applicable stores. If the expected future cash flows are less than the carrying amount of such assets, the
Company recognizes an impairment loss for the difference between the carrying amount and the
estimated fair value. Expected future cash flows, which are estimated over each store’s remaining lease
term, contain estimates of sales and the impact those future sales will have upon cash flows. Future sales
are estimated based, in part, upon a projection of each store’s sales trend based on the actual sales of the
past several years. Additionally, each store’s future cash contribution is based upon the most recent year’s
actual cash contribution, but is adjusted based upon projected trends in sales and store operating costs.
Fair value is estimated using expected discounted future cash flows, with the discount rate approximat-
ing the Company’s borrowing rate. Significant deterioration in the performance of the Company’s stores
compared to projections could result in significant additional asset impairments.

Goodwill Impairment

Pursuant to the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets” (‘‘FAS 142”), the Company’s goodwill is tested for impairment annually (or
more frequently if impairment indicators arise). Pursuant to FAS 142, a reporting unit is defined as an
operating segment or one level below an operating segment (a component), for which discrete financial
information is available and reviewed by management. The Company’s reporting units were identified as
the operating segments of Domestic Borders superstores, Waldenbooks Specialty Retail and Corporate,
and the country components of the International operating segment. The carrying amounts of the net
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assets of the applicable reporting units (including goodwill) are compared to the estimated fair values of
those reporting units. Fair value is estimated using a discounted cash flow model which depends on,
among other factors, estimates of future sales and expense trends, liquidity and capitalization. The
discount rate used approximates the weighted average cost of capital of a hypothetical third party buyer.
Changes in any of the assumptions underlying these estimates may result in the future impairment of
goodwill. As of January 28, 2006, no impairment of goodwill existed.

Inventory

The carrying value of the Company’s inventory is affected by reserves for shrinkage, markdowns and
non-returnable inventory. Projections of shrinkage are based upon the results of regular, periodic
physical counts of the Company’s inventory. The Company’s shrinkage reserve is adjusted as warranted
based upon the trends yielded by the physical counts. Reserves for non-returnable inventory are based
upon the Company’s history of liquidating non-returnable inventory. The markdown percentages uti-
lized in developing the reserve are evaluated against actual, ongoing markdowns of non-returnable
inventory to ensure that they remain consistent. Significant differences between future experience and
that which was projected (for either the shrinkage or non-returnable inventory reserves) could affect the
recorded amounts of inventory and cost of sales.

The Company includes certain distribution and other expenses in its inventory costs, particularly freight,
distribution payroll, and certain occupancy expenses. In addition, certain selling, general and adminis-
trative expenses are included in inventory costs. These amounts totaled approximately $102.1 million
and $91.4 million as of January 28, 2006 and January 23, 2005, respectively. The extent to which these
costs are included in inventory is based on certain estimates of space and labor allocation.

Leases

All leases are reviewed for capital or operating classification at their inception under the guidance of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 13, ““‘Accounting for Leases” (““FAS 13”’), as amended.
The Company uses its incremental borrowing rate in the assessment of lease classification.

Gift Cards

The Company sells gift cards to its customers and records a liability for the face value of all certificates
issued and unredeemed within the last 12 months. For certificates older than 12 months, the Company
records a liability for a portion of the certificates’ face value based upon historical redemption trends,
and records the related income as a component of “Other revenue’. To the extent that future redemp-
tion patterns differ from those historically experienced, significant variations in the recorded reserves
may result.

Advertising and Vendor Incentive Programs

The Company receives payments and credits from vendors pursuant to co-operative advertising pro-
grams, shared markdown programs, purchase volume incentive programs and magazine slotting
programs. These programs continue to be beneficial for both the Company and vendors, and the
Company expects continued participation in these types of programs. Changes in vendor participation
levels, as well as changes in the volume of merchandise purchased, among other factors, could adversely
impact the Company’s results of operations and liquidity.

Pursuant to co-operative advertising programs offered by vendors, the Company contracts with vendors
to promote merchandise for specified time periods. Pursuant to the provisions of Emerging Issues Task
Force Issue No. 02-16, ‘““Accounting by a Customer (Including a Reseller) for Certain Consideration
Received from a Vendor” (“‘EITF 02-16"), vendor consideration which represents a reimbursement of
specific, incremental, identifiable costs is included in the “‘Selling, general and administrative’’ line on
the consolidated statements of operations, along with the related costs, in the period the promotion
takes place. Consideration which exceeds such costs is classified as a reduction of the *“‘Cost of
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merchandise sold”’ line on the consolidated statements of operations. Additionally, the Company has
recorded $1.1 million and $0.8 million of vendor consideration as a reduction to its inventory balance at
January 28, 2006 and January 23, 2005, respectively.

The Company also receives credits from vendors pursuant to shared markdown programs, purchase
volume programs, and magazine slotting programs. Credits received pursuant to these programs are
classified in the ‘‘Cost of merchandise sold’” line on the consolidated statements of operations, and are
recognized upon certain product volume thresholds being met or product placements occurring.

Income Taxes

The Company must make certain estimates and judgments in determining income tax expense for
financial statement purposes. These estimates and judgments occur in the calculation of certain tax
assets and liabilities, which arise from differences in the timing of recognition of revenue and expense
for tax and financial statement purposes. In addition, the calculation of the Company’s tax liabilities
involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax regulations. The Company recog-
nizes liabilities for anticipated tax issues in the United States and other tax jurisdictions based on an
estimate of whether, and to the extent which, additional taxes will be due.

The Company also records a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets arising from certain net
operating losses when it is more likely than not that some portion of all of such net operating losses will
not be realized. The Company’s effective tax rate in a given financial statement period may be materially
impacted by changes in the mix and level of earnings, changes in the expected outcome of audit
controversies or changes in the deferred tax valuation allowance.

New Accounting Guidance

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (‘‘FASB’’) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), “‘Share-Based Payment” (‘““FAS 123(R)’’), which is a
revision of FAS 123. FAS 123 (R) supersedes APB No. 25, and amends FAS No. 95, ““Statement of Cash
Flows.” Generally, the approach in FAS 123(R) is similar to the approach described in FAS 123.
However, FAS 123(R) requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee
stock options, to be recognized in the income statement based on their fair values. The Company will
adopt FAS 123(R) in the first quarter of 2006 using the modified-prospective method in which compen-
sation cost is recognized beginning with the adoption date based on (a) the requirements of FAS 123(R)
for all share-based payments granted after the effective date and (b) based on the requirements of
Statement 123 for all awards granted to employees prior to the effective date of Statement 123(R) that
remain unvested on the effective date. As of January 28, 2006, there were 0.6 million stock option awards
granted to employees that remain unvested.

The Company currently recognizes no compensation cost for employee stock options. Based on the
adoption of FAS 123(R) in the first quarter of 2006, the Company estimates the impact to not exceed an
after-tax charge of approximately $0.6 million in fiscal 2006. FAS 123(R) also requires the benefits of tax
deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost to be reported as a financing cash flow, rather
than as an operating cash flow as required under current literature. This requirement will reduce net
operating cash flows and increase net financing cash flows in periods after adoption. While the Company
cannot estimate what those amounts will be in the future (because they depend on, among other things,
when employees exercise stock options), the amount of operating cash flows recognized in prior periods
for such excess tax deductions were $7.5 million, $11.3 million and $5.9 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively.

In November 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 151, “Inventory
Costs, an amendment of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 43, Chapter 4 (“‘FAS 151”’). The amend-
ments made by FAS 151 clarify that abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs,
and wasted materials (spoilage) should be recognized as current-period charges and require the alloca-
tion of fixed production overheads to inventory based on the normal capacity of the production
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facilities. The guidance is effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning after
June 15, 2005. The adoption of FAS 151 is not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s
consolidated financial position or results of operations.

In March 2005, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 47, ‘‘Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement
Obligations — an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 143" (“FIN 47). FIN 47 clarifies the term
conditional asset retirement obligation and clarifies when an entity has sufficient information to reasona-
bly estimate the fair value of an asset retirement obligation. The interpretation requires the accelerated
recognition of certain asset retirement obligations when a fair value of such obligations can be estimated.
The interpretation became effective for the Company in the fourth quarter of 2005. The Company’s
adoption of FIN 47 did not have a material impact on its consolidated financial position or results of
operations.

In May 2005, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 154, ‘“‘Accounting
Changes and Error Corrections” (“‘FAS 154). This new standard replaces APB 20 and FAS No. 3,
“Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements.” Among other changes, FAS 154
requires retrospective application of a voluntary change in accounting principle with all prior period
financial statements presented on the new accounting principle, unless it is impracticable to do so.
FAS 154 also requires that a change in method of depreciating or amortizing a long-lived nonfinancial
asset be accounted for prospectively as a change in estimate, and correction of errors in previously issued
financial statements should be termed a restatement. The new standard is effective for accounting
changes and correction of errors made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005. The Company
does not expect the adoption of FAS 154 to have a material impact on its consolidated financial position
or results of operations.

In October 2005, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. FAS 13-1, ““Accounting for Rental Costs
Incurred during a Construction Period™ (“FSP FAS 13-17"). FSP FAS 13-1 requires rental costs associated
with operating leases that are incurred during a construction period to be recognized as rental expense.
FSP FAS 13-1 is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2005. The Company does
not expect FSP FAS 13-1 to have a material impact on its consolidated financial position or results of
operations.

In February 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 155, ‘““Accounting
for Certain Hybrid Instruments” (““FAS 155”"). FAS 155 allows financial instruments that have embedded
derivatives to be accounted for as a whole (eliminating the need to bifurcate the derivative from its host)
if the holder elects to account for the whole instrument on a fair value basis. This statement is effective
for all financial instruments acquired or issued after the beginning of an entity’s first fiscal year that
begins after September 15, 2006. The Company does not expect the adoption of FAS 154 to have a
material impact on its consolidated financial position or results of operations.

Related Party Transactions

The Company has not engaged in any related party transactions which would have had a material effect
on the Company’s financial position, cash flows, or results of operations.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The Company is exposed to market risk during the normal course of business from changes in interest
rates and foreign currency exchange rates. The exposure to these risks is managed though a combina-
tion of normal operating and financing activities, which may include the use of derivative financial
instruments in the form of interest rate swaps and forward foreign currency exchange contracts.

Interest Rate Risk

The Company is subject to risk resulting from interest rate fluctuations, as interest on certain of the
Company’s borrowings is based on variable rates. The Company’s objective in managing its exposure to
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interest rate fluctuations is to limit the impact of interest rate changes on earnings and cash flows and to
lower its overall borrowing costs. Historically, the Company had utilized interest rate swaps to achieve
this objective, effectively converting a portion of its variable rate exposure to fixed interest rates.
Currently, the Company has no such agreements in effect.

The Company is also subject to risk associated with the fair value of its $50.0 million of Notes which are
fixed-rate debt. To eliminate this risk, the Company is currently utilizing an interest rate swap, effectively
converting the Notes’ fixed interest rate to a variable rate.

LIBOR is the rate upon which the Company’s variable rate debt is principally based. If LIBOR were to
increase 1% for the full year of 2006 as compared to 2005, the Company’s after-tax earnings, after
considering the effects of its existing interest rate swap agreements, would decrease approximately
$3.7 million based on the Company’s expected average outstanding debt as of January 28, 2006.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

The Company is subject to foreign currency exchange exposure for operations with assets and liabilities
that are denominated in currencies other than U.S. dollars. On a normal basis, the Company does not
attempt to hedge the foreign currency translation fluctuations in the net investments in its foreign
subsidiaries. The Company does, from time to time, enter into short-term forward exchange contracts to
sell or purchase foreign currencies at specified rates based on estimated foreign currency cash flows. It is
the policy of the Company not to purchase financial and/or derivative instruments for speculative
purposes. At January 28, 2006, the Company had no foreign currency forward contracts outstanding.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(dollars in millions except per share data)

Fiscal Year Ended

Jan. 28, Jan. 23, Jan. 25,
2006 2005 2004
Sales . ., $4,030.7  $3,879.5  $3,698.6
Other 1eVeNUE . ..o\ v i 48.5 51.9 65.6
Total TEVENUE . .« o v e e e e e $4,079.2  $3,931.4  $3,764.2
Cost of merchandise sold (includes occupancy) ................... .. ... 2,939.5 2,812.4 2,698.6
Gross MAargin . . . ...ttt 1,139.7 1,119.0 1,065.6
Selling, general and administrative expenses . .......................... 952.1 890.3 845.0
Legal settlement expense . ......... ... — — 3.5
Pre-0opening eXpense . . . ... oottt 7.6 4.8 7.0
Asset impairments and other writedowns . ...... ... . ... . o 6.6 7.2 12.0
Operating income . ........... ... ... i i il 173.4 216.7 198.1
INTEIEST EXPENSE . . v v et ettt et e et e e e e e e 14.3 9.1 8.7
Income before income taX. .. ...ttt 159.1 207.6 189.4
Income tax provision . .............. ..o 58.1 75.7 72.1
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change ................ 101.0 131.9 117.3
Cumulative effect of accounting change (net of tax)..................... — — 2.1
NEt INCOME - « - v e e e e e e e e e e e s, $ 101.0 $ 1319 §$ 1152
Earnings (loss) per common share data (Note 2)
Diluted:
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change .............. $ 142 $ 169 $ 1.48
Cumulative effect of accounting change (net of tax) ................ — — (0.02)
NEt INCOME .« . oo v ettt et e e e e e e e e e e e $ 142 $ 169 $ 1.46
Weighted-average common shares outstanding. .. ............. 71.1 77.9 79.1
Basic:
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change .............. $ 145 $ 172 $ 1.51
Cumulative effect of accounting change (net of tax) ................ — — (0.03)
Net INCOME .« v v v e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e s $ 145 $ 172 $ 1.48
Weighted-average common shares outstanding. .. ............. 69.8 76.6 77.9

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(dollars in millions except share amounts)

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents. . ... . .
InVestments . . ..ottt
Merchandise INVENTOIIES . ... o\ttt et e e

Accounts receivable and other current assets. .. ... ....... ..

Total CUITENT ASSEES . . . . . v vttt
Property and equipment, net. .. ........... . i
Oher @Ssets . . . v v vttt et e e e

Deferred INCOME TAXES . . . v vt vttt et et e e e e

Goodwill ... e

Total @SSES .« o v it

Liabilities, Minority Interest and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt ............. ... ...
Trade accounts payable ........ ... ...
Accrued payroll and other liabilities . ............. ... ... ... o o oo
Taxes, including INCOMeE TAXES . .« ..ottt ettt et

Deferred INCOME tAXES . . o v vttt et et e e e e e

Total current liabilities . . ... ... ..
Long-term debt ....... ... . .
Other long-term liabilities . .. ... ...
Commitments and contingencies (Note 11) ......... ... ... ...

Total liabilities . . ... ... e

MINOIItY INLEIEST . ..ottt it e et et et et e e et et e e e
Total liabilities and minority interest . ...ttt

Stockholders™ equity:
Common stock, 200,000,000 shares authorized; 64,149,397 and 73,875,627 shares
issued and outstanding at January 28, 2006 and January 23, 2005, respectively . . . .
Deferred compensation . ... ........ouuuunt ettt
Accumulated other comprehensive income .. ... ... L o o i

Retained earnings . ......... ... .
Total stockholders’ equity. ........ ...

Total liabilities, minority interest and stockholders’ equity .................. ...

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Fiscal Year Ended

Jan. 28, Jan. 23,
2006 2005

$ 81.6 $ 244.8
— 95.4
1,405.9 1,306.9
150.3 118.3
1,637.8 1,765.4
703.9 635.6
79.7 84.8
26.3 14.4
124.5 128.6
$2,572.2  $2,628.8
$ 207.1 $ 141.2
660.3 615.1
293.4 306.4
135.8 118.3
14.5 15.0
1,311.1 1,196.0
5.4 55.8
326.6 286.7
1,643.1 1,538.5
1.3 1.4
1,644.4 1,539.9
294.3 525.1
(0.4) (0.5)
19.4 25.3
614.5 539.0
927.8 1,088.9
$2,572.2  $2,628.8




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(dollars in millions)

Fiscal Year Ended

Jan. 28, Jan. 23, Jan. 25,
2006 2005 2004
Cash provided by (used for):
Operations
Net INCOME . - . v v e e e e e e e e e $101.0 $1319 $115.2
Adjustments to reconcile net income to operating cash flows:
Depreciation . .......c..iui 121.5 112.9 111.3
Gain on deconsolidation of variable interest entities. ... ............... — (2.9) —
Gain on sale of INVESTMENTS . . . ..ottt e (1.2) — —
Loss on disposal of assets . ... 5.3 2.4 —
(Increase) decrease in deferred income taxes .. ..................uon.. (13.0) 12.6 0.8
Increase in other long-term assets . ............. .. ... ... . o oL (3.9) (6.7) (14.0)
Increase in other long-term liabilities ................ .. ........... 29.4 13.3 17.8
Asset impairments and other writedowns . ....... ... ... . L. 4.3 6.2 11.3
Cash provided by (used for) current assets and current liabilities:
Increase in INVENTOTIES . . . v vt vt ettt e e e et e e et e (105.0) (63.8) (37.9)
Increase in accounts receivable ............ ... ... ... .. .. .. ... ... (10.0) (5.7) (3.1)
Increase in prepaid eXpenses . ...............iiiiiiiiii.. (24.0) 9.9) (3.3)
Increase in accounts payable . ...... ... ... L i 48.1 13.8 25.2
Increase in taxes payable ....... ... ... . .. 25.6 3.4 20.2
Increase (decrease) in accrued payroll and other liabilities .............. (8.2) 19.3 (5.2)
Net cash provided by operations ........... ... ... ... ... 169.9 226.8 238.3
Investing
Capital expenditures . . ......... ... (196.3) (115.5) (110.9)
Proceeds from sale of investments . ................. it 105.2 118.0 —
Purchase of INVESTMENTS . . . ..o\ttt et e e e e — (95.4) (118.0)
Proceeds from sale-leaseback of assets . ............... ... .. .. ... ...... — 32.3 —
ACQUISTHON . . oottt — (31.2) (2.9)
Net cash used for investing . . ........ ... ... . i (91.1) (91.8) (231.8)
Financing
Net repayment of long-term debt ........... .. ... .. ... o (0.1) — —
Net repayment of long-term capital lease obligations .................... (0.4) (0.4) (0.3)
Net funding from credit facility . .. ... o 23.3 7.2 1.1
Cash dividends paid .. ... ... (25.5) (25.1) —
Issuance of common stock . .. ... .. ... 27.6 44.8 27.4
Repurchase of common stock ........ ... .. .. o i i (265.9) (177.3) (44.0)
Net cash used for financing. . ...... ... ... .. i i (241.0) (150.8) (15.8)
Effect of exchange rates on cash and equivalents . .................. .. ..., (1.0) (0.2) 1.0
Net decrease in cash and equivalents .......... ... ... ... ... .. . (163.2) (16.0) (8.3)
Cash and equivalents at beginning of year . .............. .. ... .. ... 244.8 260.8 269.1
Cash and equivalents at end of year .. ... ... . ... . o L il $ 81.6 $244.8 $260.8
Supplemental cash flow disclosures:
Interest paid .. ..o oottt $ 139 $ 85 $§ 92
Income taxes paid........ ... ... . $ 550 $ 646 $ 563

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(dollars in millions except share amounts)

Accumulated

Other
Common Stock Deferred Comprehensive  Retained
Shares Amount  Compensation Income (Loss)  Earnings Total
Balance at January 26, 2003 .......... 78,731,922  $ 657.0 $(0.2) $ 4.0 $323.2 $ 984.0
Netincome ..........covviiiinnn... — — — — 1152 115.2
Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — 18.0 — 18.0
Change in fair value of derivatives, net
of tax provision of $0.4 ........... — — — 0.7 — 0.7
Comprehensive income .. ............ 133.9
Cash dividends declared ($0.08 per
common share) .................. — — — — (6.2) (6.2)
Issuance of common stock ........... 2,094,005 27.4 — — — 27.4
Repurchase and retirement of common
stock ... (2,552,586) (44.0) — — — (44.0)
Tax benefit of equity compensation . . .. — 5.9 — — — 5.9
Change in deferred compensation. . . . .. — — (0.4) — — (0.4)
Balance at January 25, 2004 .......... 78,273,341 $ 646.3 $(0.6) $22.7 $432.2 $1,100.6
Net income ........covviiiinnn... — — — — 1319 131.9
Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — 2.3 — 2.3
Change in fair value of derivatives, net
of tax provision of $0.2 ........... — — — 0.3 — 03
Comprehensive income .. ............ 134.5
Cash dividends declared ($0.08 and
$0.09 per common share) .......... — — — — (251 (25.1)
Issuance of common stock ........... 3,222,058 44.8 — — — 44.8
Repurchase and retirement of common
StOCK (7,619,772)  (177.3) — — — (177.3)
Tax benefit of equity compensation . . .. — 11.3 — — — 11.3
Change in deferred compensation.. . . . .. — — 0.1 — — 0.1
Balance at January 23, 2005 .......... 73,875,627 $525.1 $(0.5) $25.3 $539.0 $1,088.9
Netincome ...........cviiinnn.. — — — — 101.0 101.0
Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — (5.9) — (5.9)
Comprehensive income . ............. 95.1
Cash dividends declared ($0.09 and
$0.10 per common share) .......... — — — — (25.5) (25.5)
Issuance of common stock ........... 1,866,917 27.6 — — — 27.6
Repurchase and retirement of common
stock ... (11,593,147)  (265.9) — — — (265.9)
Tax benefit of equity compensation . . .. — 7.5 — — — 7.5
Change in deferred compensation.. . . . .. — — 0.1 — — 0.1
Balance at January 28, 2006.......... 64,149,397 $ 294.3 (0.4) $19.4 $614.5 $ 927.8

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(dollars in millions except per share data)

NOTE 1 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Business: Borders Group, Inc., through its subsidiaries, Borders, Inc. (‘“‘Borders”), Walden
Book Company, Inc. (‘“Waldenbooks’’), Borders (UK) Limited, Borders Australia Pty Limited and others
(individually and collectively, ‘‘the Company’’), is the second largest operator of book, music and movie
superstores and the largest operator of mall-based bookstores in the world based upon both sales and
number of stores. At January 28, 2006, the Company operated 528 superstores under the Borders name,
including 473 in the United States, 35 in the United Kingdom, 14 in Australia, three in Puerto Rico, two
in New Zealand and one in Singapore. The Company also operated 678 mall-based and other bookstores
primarily under the Waldenbooks name in the United States and 33 bookstores under the Books etc.
name in the United Kingdom. In addition, the Company owns and operates United Kingdom-based
Paperchase Products Limited (‘‘Paperchase’’), a designer and retailer of stationery, cards and gifts. As of
January 28, 2006, Paperchase operated 90 stores, primarily in the United Kingdom, and Paperchase
shops have been added to nearly 100 domestic Borders Superstores.

Principles of Consolidation: The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company
and all majority-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been
eliminated.

Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during
the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Fiscal Year: On December 10, 2004, the Board of Directors of the Company approved a change in the
Company’s fiscal year-end. Effective with respect to fiscal 2005, the Company elected to change its fiscal
year to a 52/53-week fiscal year ending on the Saturday closest to the last day of January. The Company
implemented this change in order to conform to industry standards and for certain administrative
purposes. As a result of the change, the Company’s 2005 fiscal year consisted of 53 weeks, and ended on
January 28, 2006. The Company’s fiscal years had previously ended on the Sunday immediately preced-
ing the last Wednesday in January. Fiscal 2004 consisted of 52 weeks and ended January 23, 2005. Fiscal
2003 consisted of 52 weeks and ended January 25, 2004. References herein to years are to the Company’s
fiscal years.

Foreign Currency and Translation of Foreign Subsidiaries: The functional currencies of the Company’s
foreign operations are the respective local currencies. All assets and liabilities of the Company’s foreign
operations are translated into U.S. dollars at fiscal period-end exchange rates. Income and expense items
are translated at average exchange rates prevailing during the year. The resulting translation adjustments
are recorded as a component of stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income. Foreign currency
transaction gains/ (losses) were $2.1, $(0.2), and $(0.4) in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

Cash and Equivalents: Cash and equivalents include short-term investments with original maturities of
90 days or less.

Investments: Investments include primarily short-term investments in auction rate securities.

Inventories: Merchandise inventories are valued on a first-in, first-out (‘‘FIFO’’) basis at the lower of cost
or market using the retail inventory method. The Company includes certain distribution and other
expenses in its inventory costs, totaling $102.1 and $91.4 as of January 28, 2006, and January 23, 2005,
respectively.

Property and Equipment: Property and equipment are recorded at cost, including capitalized interest, and
depreciated over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis for financial statement purposes and
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
(dollars in millions except per share data)

on accelerated methods for income tax purposes. Most store properties are leased and improvements are
amortized over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the initial term of the related lease, generally
over three to 20 years. Other annual rates used in computing depreciation for financial statement
purposes approximate 3% for buildings and 10% to 33% for other fixtures and equipment. Amortization
of assets under capital leases is included in depreciation expense.

The carrying values of long-lived assets are evaluated whenever changes in circumstances indicate the
carrying amounts of such assets may not be recoverable, in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 144, ““Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.”” In
performing such reviews for recoverability, the Company compares the expected cash flows to the
carrying values of long-lived assets. If the expected future cash flows are less than the carrying amounts
of such assets, the Company recognizes an impairment loss for the difference between the carrying
amount and its estimated fair value. Fair value is estimated using expected discounted future cash flows.

Goodwill: Pursuant to the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “‘Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets” (‘““FAS 142”"), the Company’s goodwill is tested for impairment annually
(or more frequently if impairment indicators arise). Pursuant to FAS 142, a reporting unit is defined as
an operating segment or one level below an operating segment (a component), for which discrete
financial information is available and reviewed by management. The Company’s reporting units were
identified as the operating segments of Domestic Borders superstores, Waldenbooks Specialty Retail and
Corporate, and the country components of the International operating segment. The carrying amounts
of the net assets of the applicable reporting units (including goodwill) are compared to the estimated
fair values of those reporting units. Fair value is estimated using a discounted cash flow model which
depends on, among other factors, estimates of future sales and expense trends, liquidity and capitaliza-
tion. The discount rate used approximates the weighted average cost of capital of a hypothetical third
party buyer.

Leases: All leases are reviewed for capital or operating classification at their inception under the gui-
dance of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 13, ““Accounting for Leases’ (‘“FAS 13”), as
amended. The Company uses its incremental borrowing rate in the assessment of lease classification, and
defines initial lease term to include the construction build-out period, but to exclude lease extension
period(s). The Company conducts operations primarily under operating leases. For leases that contain
rent escalations, the Company records the total rent payable during the lease term, as defined above, on
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease and records the difference between the rents paid and the
straight-line rent as a deferred rent liability, under ‘“‘Other long-term liabilities”” on the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets, totaling $154.7 and $144.9 as of January 28, 2006 and January 23, 2005,
respectively.

Landlord Allowances: The Company classifies landlord allowances as deferred rent liabilities, under
“Other long-term liabilities”” on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets, totaling $132.0 and $116.3
as of January 28, 2006 and January 23, 2005, respectively, in accordance with the provisions of FASB
Technical Bulletin No. 88-1, ““Issues Relating to Accounting for Leases” (“FIB 88-1"), and as an
operating activity on the Company’s consolidated statements of cash flows. Also in accordance with the
provisions of FTB 88-1, the Company classifies the amortization of landlord allowances as a reduction of
occupancy expense, included as a component of “Cost of merchandise sold (includes occupancy)’ in
the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

Financial Instruments: The recorded values of the Company’s financial instruments, which include
accounts receivable, accounts payable and indebtedness, approximate their fair values.

Pursuant to the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, ‘““Accounting For
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”” (“‘FAS 133"’), as amended, the Company recognizes the
fair value of its derivatives on the consolidated balance sheets. Changes in derivative fair values are either
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recognized in earnings as offsets to the changes in fair value of related hedged assets, liabilities and firm
commitments, or, for forecasted transactions, deferred and recorded as a component of other stockhold-
ers’ equity until the hedged transactions occur and are recognized in earnings. The ineffective portion
of a hedging derivative’s change in fair value is immediately recognized in earnings.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss): Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) for the
Company includes fair value changes of derivatives (net of tax) and exchange rate fluctuations. Disclo-
sure of comprehensive income (loss) is incorporated into the consolidated statements of stockholders’
equity for all years presented. Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) includes $0.0 and $0.1
for derivatives and $19.4 and $25.2 for exchange rate fluctuations as of January 28, 2006 and January 23,
2005, respectively.

Revenue: Revenue is recognized, net of estimated returns, at the point of sale for all of the Company’s
segments. Revenue excludes sales taxes and any value-added taxes.

The Company, through its subsidiaries, has agreements with Amazon.com, Inc. (‘‘Amazon’’) to operate
Web sites utilizing the Borders.com, Waldenbooks.com, Borders.co.uk and Booksetc.co.uk URLs (the
“Web Sites’’). Under these agreements, Amazon is the merchant of record for all sales made through the
Web Sites, and determines all prices and other terms and conditions applicable to such sales. Amazon is
responsible for the fulfillment of all products sold through the Web Sites and retains all payments from
customers. The Company receives referral fees for products purchased through the Web Sites, and
includes this income as a component of ““Other revenue” in the Company’s consolidated statements of
operations. The agreements contain mutual indemnification provisions, including provisions that define
between the parties the responsibilities with respect to any liabilities for sales, use and similar taxes,
including penalties and interest, associated with products sold on the Web Sites. Currently, taxes are not
collected with respect to products sold on the Web Sites except in certain states.

In addition, Borders has an agreement with Amazon to allow customers ordering certain book, music
and movie products through certain of Amazon’s Web sites to purchase and pick up the merchandise at
Borders stores in the United States (‘‘Express In-Store Pick Up’’). Under this agreement, the Company is
the merchant of record for all sales made through this service, and determines all prices and other terms
and conditions applicable to such sales. The Company fulfills all products sold through Express In-Store
Pick Up. In addition, the Company assumes all risk, cost and responsibility related to the sale and
fulfillment of all products sold. The Company recognizes revenue upon customers’ pick up of the
merchandise at the store, and classifies this revenue as a component of ““Sales”” in the Company’s
consolidated statements of operations. The Company also pays referral fees to Amazon pursuant to this
agreement.

Pre-Opening Costs: The Company expenses pre-opening costs as incurred in accordance with SOP 98-5,
“Reporting on the Costs of Start-Up Activities.”

Closing Costs: Pursuant to the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 146,
“*Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities”” (‘FAS 146’"), the Company expenses
when incurred all amounts related to the discontinuance of operations of stores identified for closure.

Preferred Reader Program: Until October 2004, Waldenbooks sold memberships in its Preferred Reader
Program, which offered members discounts on purchases and other benefits. The Company recognized
membership income on a straight-line basis over the 12-month term of the membership, and categorized
the income as “‘Other revenue” in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. Discounts on
purchases were netted against ““Sales” in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

Gift Cards: The Company sells gift cards to its customers and records a liability for the face value of all
certificates issued and unredeemed within the last 12 months. For certificates older than 12 months, the
Company records a liability for a portion of the certificates’ face value based upon historical redemption
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trends, and records the related income as a component of ‘“‘Other revenue’ in the Company’s
consolidated statements of operations. The Company has included the liability for gift cards as a
component of ““‘Accrued payroll and other liabilities”” on its consolidated balance sheets, totaling $145.4
and $140.5 as of January 28, 2006 and January 23, 2005, respectively.

Advertising Costs: The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred, and recorded approximately
$39.4, $44.7 and $35.9 of gross advertising expenses in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The Company receives payments and credits from vendors pursuant to co-operative advertising pro-
grams, shared markdown programs, purchase volume incentive programs and magazine slotting
programs.

Pursuant to co-operative advertising programs offered by vendors, the Company contracts with vendors
to promote merchandise for specified time periods. Pursuant to the provisions of Emerging Issues Task
Force Issue No. 02-16, ““Accounting by a Customer (Including a Reseller) for Certain Consideration
Received from a Vendor” (“EITF 02-16"), which the Company adopted effective January 1, 2003,
vendor consideration which represents a reimbursement of specific, incremental, identifiable costs is
included in the “‘Selling, general and administrative’” line on the consolidated statements of operations,
along with the related costs, in the period the promotion takes place. Consideration which exceeds such
costs is classified as a reduction of the “‘Cost of merchandise sold’” line on the consolidated statements of
operations. Additionally, the Company recorded $1.1 and $0.8 of vendor consideration as a reduction to
its inventory balance at January 28, 2006 and January 23, 2005, respectively.

The Company also receives credits from vendors pursuant to shared markdown programs, purchase
volume programs, and magazine slotting programs. Credits received pursuant to these programs are
classified in the ““Cost of merchandise sold’ line on the consolidated statements of operations, and are
recognized upon certain product volume thresholds being met or product placements occurring.

Advertising costs not part of the programs listed above are included in the ‘‘Selling, general and
administrative’’ line of the consolidated statements of operations.

Income Taxes: Income taxes are accounted for in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 109, ““Accounting for Income Taxes” (“FAS 109’). FAS 109 requires recognition of
deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences
between the book carrying amounts and the tax basis of assets and liabilities. FAS 109 also requires that
deferred tax assets be reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some portion of
or all of the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

The Company and its subsidiaries file separate foreign, state and local income tax returns and, accord-
ingly, provide for such income taxes on a separate company basis.

Equity-Based Compensation: The Company accounts for equity-based compensation under the guidance
of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, ““Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (‘“APB
No. 257). As permitted, the Company has adopted the disclosure-only option of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123, “‘Accounting for Stock Based Compensation” (‘‘FAS 123"’), as amended
by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 148, ‘“‘Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation —
Transition and Disclosure.” The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per
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share if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of FAS 123 to stock-based
employee compensation:

2005 2004 2003

Net income, as reported . .. ...ttt $101.0 $131.9 $115.2
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported net

income, net of related tax effects. .. ... ... ... ... . .. . ... . . ... 0.9 0.7 0.1
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined

under fair value method for all awards, netof tax .................. 1.8 4.1 7.4
Pro forma net iNCOME . .. ..o\ttt $100.1  $128.5 $107.9
Earnings per share:

Diluted —as reported .. ....... .. .. $ 142 $1.69 $ 1.46

Diluted — pro forma. ... $ 141 $1.65 $ 1.36

Basic—as reported .. ... $ 145 $ 172 $ 1.48

Basic—pro forma.......... ... $ 143 $1.68 $ 1.39

See ‘“Note 15 — Stock-Based Benefit Plans” for further discussion of the Company’s equity-based com-
pensation plans.

New Accounting Guidance: In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (‘‘FASB”’)
issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), ‘‘Share-Based Payment”
(“FAS 123(R)”’), which is a revision of FAS 123. FAS 123(R) supersedes APB No. 25, and amends FAS
No. 95, ““Statement of Cash Flows.”” Generally, the approach in FAS 123(R) is similar to the approach
described in FAS 123. However, FAS 123(R) requires all share-based payments to employees, including
grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the income statement based on their fair values.
The Company will adopt FAS 123(R) in the first quarter of 2006 using the modified-prospective method
in which compensation cost is recognized beginning with the adoption date based on (a) the require-
ments of FAS 123(R) for all share-based payments granted after the effective date and (b) based on the
requirements of Statement 123 for all awards granted to employees prior to the effective date of
Statement 123(R) that remain unvested on the effective date. As of January 28, 2006, there were
0.6 million stock option awards granted to employees that remain unvested.

The Company currently recognizes no compensation cost for employee stock options. Based on the
adoption of FAS 123(R) in the first quarter of 2006, the Company estimates the impact to not exceed an
after-tax charge of approximately $0.6 in fiscal 2006. FAS 123(R) also requires the benefits of tax
deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost to be reported as a financing cash flow, rather
than as an operating cash flow as required under current literature. This requirement will reduce net
operating cash flows and increase net financing cash flows in periods after adoption. While the Company
cannot estimate what those amounts will be in the future (because they depend on, among other things,
when employees exercise stock options), the amount of operating cash flows recognized in prior periods
for such excess tax deductions were $7.5, $11.3 and $5.9 in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

In November 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 151, “Inventory
Costs, an amendment of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 43, Chapter 4 (“‘FAS 151”’). The amend-
ments made by FAS 151 clarify that abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs,
and wasted materials (spoilage) should be recognized as current-period charges and require the alloca-
tion of fixed production overheads to inventory based on the normal capacity of the production
facilities. The guidance is effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning after
June 15, 2005. The adoption of FAS 151 is not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s
consolidated financial position or results of operations.
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In March 2005, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 47, ‘‘Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement
Obligations — an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 143" (“FIN 47). FIN 47 clarifies the term
conditional asset retirement obligation and clarifies when an entity has sufficient information to reasona-
bly estimate the fair value of an asset retirement obligation. The interpretation requires the accelerated
recognition of certain asset retirement obligations when a fair value of such obligations can be estimated.
The interpretation became effective for the Company in the fourth quarter of 2005. The Company’s
adoption of FIN 47 did not have a material impact on its consolidated financial position or results of
operations.

In May 2005, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 154, ‘‘Accounting
Changes and Error Corrections’ (‘““FAS 1547’). This new standard replaces APB 20 and FAS No. 3,
“Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements.”” Among other changes, FAS 154
requires retrospective application of a voluntary change in accounting principle with all prior period
financial statements presented on the new accounting principle, unless it is impracticable to do so. FAS
154 also requires that a change in method of depreciating or amortizing a long-lived nonfinancial asset
be accounted for prospectively as a change in estimate, and correction of errors in previously issued
financial statements should be termed a restatement. The new standard is effective for accounting
changes and correction of errors made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005. The Company
does not expect the adoption of FAS 154 to have a material impact on its consolidated financial position
or results of operations.

In October 2005, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. FAS 13-1, ““Accounting for Rental Costs
Incurred during a Construction Period™ (“FSP FAS 13-17"). FSP FAS 13-1 requires rental costs associated
with operating leases that are incurred during a construction period to be recognized as rental expense.
FSP FAS 13-1 is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2005. The Company does
not expect FSP FAS 13-1 to have a material impact on its consolidated financial position or results of
operations.

In February 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 155, ‘““‘Accounting
for Certain Hybrid Instruments’ (“‘FAS 1557"). FAS 155 allows financial instruments that have embedded
derivatives to be accounted for as a whole (eliminating the need to bifurcate the derivative from its host)
if the holder elects to account for the whole instrument on a fair value basis. This statement is effective
for all financial instruments acquired or issued after the beginning of an entity